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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains certain forward -looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These include statements about our expectations,
beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, which we indicate by words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “expect,” intend,” “plan,” “will,” “we believe,” “our
company believes,” management believes” and similar language. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and are
subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those set forth in the discussion under Item 1, “Business”, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Our actual results may differ materially from results
anticipated in these forward-looking statements. We base our forward -looking statements on information currently available to us, and we assume no
obligation to update them. In addition, our historical financial performance is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future
and we believe such comparisons cannot be relied upon as indicators of future performance.
 
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements. Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, we do not intend to
update any of the forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.
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 PART I

 
Except as otherwise indicated by the context, references in this Annual Report to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Kandi,” or the “Company” are to the combined
businesses of Kandi Technologies Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
 
 Item 1. Business Introduction
 
Our Core Business
 
The Company was mainly engaged in the development, production and distribution of the electric vehicle (“EV”) products, EV parts and off-road vehicle
products.
 
Our Organizational Structure
 
The Company’s organizational chart as of the date of this report is as follows:
 

   
 
Please refer to the discussion in NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8 of this Annual Report for a narrative of our organization structure and operating subsidiaries, including their dates of incorporation and history.
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Industry Overview
 
Over the years, governments and the automobile manufacturing industry have reached a consensus on the importance of diversifying the automobile
industry and utilizing various energy resources. China is one of the world’s largest automobile markets. China has relatively scarce fuel reserves but rich
natural resources of electric power. As a result, the Chinese government has been implementing industrial policies of supporting new energy vehicles.
The diversified market with the coexistence of traditional fuel vehicles, plug-in hybrid vehicles and pure electric vehicles has been initially formed. We
believe China is the most prospective market for pure electric vehicles. According to a government forecast, China’s new energy vehicle sales are
projected to grow to 2.1 million units in 2020, and its penetration is expected to reach 7% by 2020. We also believe that in the global automobile industry,
there is great development space for the Chinese electric vehicle and core parts industry in the future.
 
In December 2019, an outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 ( “COVID-19”), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, was first found in
Wuhan, China. The World Health Organization (“WHO”) declared the outbreak to be a Public Health Emergency of International Concern on January 30,
2020 and recognized it as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the global economy and many industries, including
the automobile and parts industry. However, as the outbreak in China has been gradually managed under control, the automobile and parts industry has
also begun to resume productions. Stimulated by the various preferential policies of the Chinese government to promote economic development, we
believe the automobile and its parts industry will return onto the track for the next development.
 
As one of the pioneers in China’s electric vehicle industry, Kandi has spent years in the innovation of the new energy vehicle technology research and
development, production layout and market promotion mode, Kandi has successfully taken its position in China’s electric vehicle industry, especially in
the areas of the production and manufacturing of electric vehicles and core parts.
 
Competitive Landscape
 
In general, our EV business faces competition from two groups of competitors: traditional vehicle manufacturers and new market entrants.
 
In terms of competition with conventional fuel vehicle manufacturers, many of the conventional fuel vehicle manufacturers are much larger in terms of
size, manufacturing capabilities, customer bases, financial, marketing and human resources than the electric vehicle manufacturers. However, the
conventional fuel automobiles face many challenges, including but not limited to environmental pollution and energy scarcity, which in turn provide great
opportunities for the rapid development of the EV industry in China.
 
On March 31, 2020, in order to promote automobile consumption, the executive meeting of the State Council decided to extend two preferential policies
of new energy vehicle purchase subsidy and vehicle purchase tax exemption for another two years, which were originally due at the end 2020. The
Chinese government has released various national policies to promote the high-quality development of the electric vehicle industry with goals to facilitate
the transformation and upgrading of the automobile industry, to improve the comprehensive competitiveness of the electric vehicle industry, to support
the electric vehicle and its core parts industry, to accelerate the resumption of production, and to promote the automobile consumption to cope with the
impact of COVID-19 on the national economy.
 
Our Opportunities and Growth Strategy
 
Local governments in China are pushing for new electric vehicle adoption with strong policy support, due to worsening air pollution and concerns about
petroleum resource dependence. As one of the beneficiaries of the new energy vehicle industry take-off, Kandi has become one of the front runners in
China’s electric vehicle industry, given its technology innovation with integrated solutions and operation experience.
 
Our business strategy includes efforts to provide customers with high-quality products, to expand our footprint in new and existing markets, and to
advance our profile and the market demand through the further innovations in the Car- Share Program and the Affiliate Company’s direct sales channel.
We also provide EV products to end users through our distributors. We anticipate that our pure EV product business in China, through the operations of
the Affiliate Company and with the support of new Chinese government policies (including the Double Credit System Policy), will continue to develop and
grow in the future. China promulgated the Double Credit System Policy in 2017, which assesses carmakers in terms of both fuel consumption and new
energy vehicle production. We can amass credits by producing gasoline vehicles with less emissions than the country’s standards or by producing
electric cars, plug-in hybrids and fuel cell vehicles.
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Today, cities in China face four critical challenges in the traffic environment, including pollution, traffic congestion, insufficient parking availability, and
growing scarcity of energy supplies, which are mainly the result of ever growing volume of gas-powered private cars. The best solution to these problems
is to increase more affordable public transportation for urban residents. Subway and bus used to be the most popular public transportation options in
China. They form the main artery of urban public transportation but such system is lack of capillary. In this regard, we introduced the Car-Share Program
by using pure electric vehicles. Urban public transportation system can be improved with the ORSS program.
  
In order to further improve the Car- Share Program, we united other operators in more than 10 cities to form of a five-year 300,000 units online ride-
sharing service alliance at the beginning of 2019. As one of the most active practitioners of sharing economy model in China nowadays, this innovative
business model provides an excellent solution to EV sharing. The character of this program is that all the cars casted to the online platform by the
alliance use the changing-battery-model. The changing battery model solves the problems including high price of EVs, short recharging mileage, long
recharging time, shortage of charging facilities, battery attenuation and potential pollution problem and so on. Furthermore this model allows the battery to
be slowly recharged at a constant temperature, which prolongs the usage life of the battery and truly realize green energy efficiency. We have reason to
believe that this upgrade to ORSS program from MPT advocated and practiced by Kandi will become the benchmark of urban car-share and play a
significant role in the development of China’s urban travel ecosphere.
 
SC Autosports, LLC (“SC Autosports”) is a Dallas-based sales company with nationwide sales channels in the U.S that is primarily engaged in the
wholesale of off-road vehicle products, with a small percentage of its business derived from off-road vehicle parts wholesale and retail. It has a seasoned
management team and a distribution force averaging over ten years of sales experience. To gain access to and promote electric vehicle products to the
U.S. market, on July 1, 2018, we acquired 100% ownership of SC Autosports. Through more than one year’s preparation, SC Autosports is to begin to
sell Kandi’s electric vehicles in the U.S. market this year.
 
On March 21, 2019, Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Kandi Vehicles”) signed an Equity Transfer Agreement with Geely Technologies Group Co., Ltd.
(“Geely”) to transfer certain equity interests in the Kandi Electric Vehicles Group Co., Ltd. (the “Affiliate Company”, formerly defined as the “JV
Company”) to Geely. As a result of the completion of the equity transfer on September 29, 2019, Kandi Vehicles now owns 22% and Geely and its
affiliates own 78% of the equity interests of the Affiliate Company. In October 2019, the Affiliate Company changed name to Fengsheng Automotive
Technology Group Co., Ltd.. Approved by the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology,
the Affiliate Company is a new energy vehicle design, development and production vehicle manufacturer.
 
Benefiting from the technical support of Geely, the Affiliate Company now has the ability to manage the whole life cycle of the new energy vehicle sale
process, including new energy vehicle market business analysis, new energy vehicle product development, sample vehicle delivery verification,
production and after-sales maintenance. At the same time, the Affiliate Company will have competitive advantages in the devemopment of intelligent
internet connection and autonomous vehicles.
 
The Affiliate Company has transitioned from a traditional vehicle company to an intelligent vehicle company. It operated an independently developed
vehicle remote upgrade platform, a vehicle networking and vehicle terminal, and a vehicle monitoring platform, which allow it to manage the vehicle
operation data, improve, optimize and expand the platform functions (including vehicle monitoring, autonomous, remote control, and vehicle physical
examination); improve vehicle operation, management efficiency and enhance the user experience by connecting the user with the vehicle and pile.
 
On April 10, 2020, the Affiliate Company held an online brand conference to launch its “Maple Leaf Brand” products. Maple Leaf Brand is a new energy
brand established as a result of the integration of Huapu’s manufacture license and Kandi’s assets. The products of this brand mainly compete with the
new forces of domestic cars. With the Maple 30X motor’s maximum output of 70kw, the driving range on a full charge is up to 306 km or 190 miles. The
model comes with express charging and standard charging options. Express charging enables the vehicle to be charged to 80% in about 30 minutes. A
home plug-in charging feature is also available. The national pre-sale price after subsidy starts at RMB 68,800 (approximately USD $9,778) and goes up
to RMB79,800 (approximately$11,342) for the premium package. Maple 30X is the first Maple model released this year. There are two more models
planning to be launched later this year: a pure SUV targeting “millennial” families and an MPV model.
 
Our Products
 
General
 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, our products consist of EV parts, EV products, and off-road vehicles including ATVs, utility vehicles
(“UTVs”), go-karts, and others vehicles. Based on our market research on consumer demand trends, we have adjusted our production line strategically
and continue to develop and manufacture new products in an effort to meet market demand and better serve our customers.
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The following table shows the breakdown of our net revenues:
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2019   2018  

  
Sales

Revenue   
Sales

Revenue  
Primary geographical markets       
Overseas  $ 24,623,424  $ 12,741,570 
China   111,117,912   99,697,258 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Major products         
EV parts  $ 110,675,908  $ 99,099,312 
EV products   108,640   - 
Off-road vehicles   22,743,142   13,339,516 
Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters   2,213,646   - 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Timing of revenue recognition         
Products transferred at a point in time  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 
  
Sales and Distribution
 
In 2019, the Company had primary products: electric vehicle parts and off-road vehicles. In 2019, Kandi Vehicles launched new intelligent transportation
products, including Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters. 
 
Customers
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, our major customers, in the aggregate, accounted for 78% of our sales. We are working on developing new
business partners and clients for our products to reduce our dependence on existing customers and is focusing our new business development efforts on
our EV business.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s major customers, each of whom accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenue,
were as follows:
 
  Sales   Trade Receivable  
  Year Ended   Year Ended        
  December 31,   December 31,   December 31,   December 31,  
Major Customers  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Customer A        51%       33%       55%       22%
Customer B   15%  4%  5%  2%
Fengsheng Vehicles Technologies Group Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

(related parties)   12%  43%  32%  66%
  
Sources of Supply
 
All raw materials are purchased from suppliers. We have developed close relationships with several key suppliers particularly in the procurement of
certain key parts. While we obtain components from multiple third-party sources in some cases, we do not have, and do not anticipate having, any
difficulty in obtaining required materials from our suppliers. We believe that we have adequate supplies or sources of availability of the raw materials
necessary to meet our manufacturing and supply requirements.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s material suppliers, each of whom accounted for more than 10% of our total purchases, were as
follows:
 
  Purchases   Accounts Payable  
  Year Ended   Year Ended        
  December 31   December 31   December 31,   December 31,  
Major Suppliers  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Zhejiang Kandi Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.   73%      -   8%       - 
Supplier C   11%  7%  -   - 
  
Intellectual Property and Licenses
 
Our success partially depends on our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. We rely on a combination of patents, patent
applications, trademarks, copyrights and trade secret protection laws in China and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property and our brand. For 2019, Kandi Vehicles applied with the Chinese patent authority for total 8
patents, including 4 utility model patents and 4 appearance design patents. During 2019, Kandi Vehicles received total of 17 issued patents, 11 utility
model patents and 6 appearance design patents. As of December 31, 2019, Kandi Vehicles had total of 84 valid patents, including 1 invention patent, 42
utility model patents and 39 appearance design patents, as well as 2 software copyrights. For 2019, Jinhua Ankao applied with the Chinese patent
authority for total of 13 utility model patents and received total 4 issued utility model patents. As of December 31, 2019, Jinhua Ankao had total of 32 valid
patents, including 30 utility model patents and 2 appearance design patents. For 2019, Kandi New Energy applied and received total of 1 utility model
patent. As of December 31, 2019, Kandi New Energy had total of 5 valid patents, including 1 utility model patents and 4 appearance design patents.
Under Chinese patent law, an invention patent is valid for a term of 20 years and a utility or design patent is valid for a term of 10 years. In addition, we
are authorized to use the trademark “Kandi” and we are the owner of the trademark “JASSCOL”. The Affiliate Company is authorized to use the
trademark “Global Hawk”. We intend to continue to file additional patent applications with respect to our technology.
 
Kandi Vehicles was certified in intellectual property management systems in 2017 and is recognized as a national High and New Technology Enterprise
by Zhejiang Provincial Science and Technology Bureau, Zhejiang Provincial Department of Finance, Zhejiang Provincial National Tax Bureau and
Zhejiang Provincial Local Tax Bureau on November 13, 2017. Jinhua Ankao was certified in intellectual property management systems in 2018 and is
recognized as a national High and New Technology Enterprise by Zhejiang Provincial Science and Technology Bureau, Zhejiang Provincial Department
of Finance, Zhejiang Provincial National Tax Bureau and Zhejiang Provincial Local Tax Bureau on November 30, 2018. The certification is valid for three
years. The status of being a national High and New Technology Enterprise qualifies Kandi Vehicles for a preferred 15% income tax rate, as opposed to a
standard corporate income tax rate at 25%.
 
In 2019, Jinhua Ankao was named as a “Key Enterprise” of Jinhua Economic Development Zone.
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Employees
 
As of December 31, 2019, excluding the contractors and the employees with the Affiliate Company, Kandi had a total of 594 full-time employees, as
compared to 705 full-time employees on December 31, 2018, of which 263 employees are production personnel, 38 employees are sales personnel, 88
employees are research and development personnel, and 205 employees are administrative personnel. None of our employees are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relationships with our employees to be good. We also employ consultants on an as-needed basis.
 
Environmental and Safety Regulation
 
Emissions
 
Our products are all subject to international laws and emissions related standards and regulations, including regulations and related standards
established by China Environmental Protection Agency, the United States Environmental Protection Agency, the California Air Resources Board, and
European and Canadian legislative bodies. 
 
According to the management’s knowledge, the Company’s products have been designed and developed according to the environmental regulations of
the target market since the research and development period, and have passed the corresponding tests before the products are put into production and
sales, and obtained the compulsory product certification of the corresponding countries and regions.
 
If the standards and rules we execute are modified, or interpreted differently, or the product certification certificate expires, we will evaluate the product
and restart the corresponding product design improvement and product testing/certification procedures to continuously ensure the target market
environment regulatory compliance. The Company cannot estimate the extent to which these changes, if any, will affect our operating costs in the future.
 
Product Safety and Regulation
 
Safety Regulation
 
The U.S. federal government and individual states have adopted, or are considering the adoption of, laws and regulations relating to the use and safety of
Kandi’s products. The federal government is the primary regulator of product safety. The Consumer Product Safety Commission (“CPSC”) has federal
oversight over product safety issues related to ATVs and off-road vehicles. The National Highway Transportation Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) has
federal oversight over product safety issues related to off-road vehicles and regulates the safety of electric vehicles for road vehicles.
 
In August 2008, the Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act (the “Product Safety Act”) was passed. The Product Safety Act requires all
manufacturers and distributors who import into or distribute ATVs within the United States to comply with the American National Standards
Institute/Specialty Vehicle Institute of America (“ANSI/SVIA”) safety standard, which previously had been voluntary. The Product Safety Act also requires
the same manufacturers and distributors to have ATV action plans filed with the CPSC that are substantially similar to the voluntary action plans that
were previously in effect. Both Kandi and SC Autosports currently comply with the ANSI/SVIA standard.
  

6



 

 
Kandi’s off-road vehicles are subject to federal vehicle safety standards administered by NHTSA. Kandi’s off-road vehicles are also subject to various
state vehicle safety standards. Kandi believes that its off-road vehicles comply with safety standards applicable to off-road vehicles.
 
Kandi’s off-road vehicles are also subject to international safety standards in places where it sells its products outside the United States. Kandi believes
that its off-road vehicle products comply with applicable safety standards in the United States and internationally.
 
For the future sales of Kandi electric vehicle to the US market, the Company’s R&D department collected and checked the relevant provisions adopted
by NHTSA. Through the conformity assessment and design improvement of product safety standards, Kandi electric vehicles sold to U.S. were approved
by NHTSA and obtained the qualification for the import and registration of electric vehicles in the United States. Therefore, Kandi believes that the
electric vehicle sold to U.S. can meet the US product safety regulations and standards.
 
Principal Executive Offices
 
Our principal executive office is located in the Jinhua City Industrial Zone in Jinhua, Zhejiang Province, PRC, 321016, and our telephone number is (86-
579) 82239856.
 
Recent Development Activities
 
Fengsheng Automotive Technology GroupCo., Ltd. (formerly known as Kandi Electric Vehicles Group Co., Ltd., the “Affiliate Company” or “Fengsheng”)
hosted a launch ceremony on January 13th to celebrate the release of its first production electric vehicle, the Maple Model 30X (or Maple 30X) at its
Jiangsu subsidiary. Government officials from the Jiangsu Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology,
Nantong City Mayor’s Office, and Rugao City Mayor’s Office attended the ceremony. Also in attendance were members of the media,along with Geely
Technology Group’s CEO,Xu Zhihao, and Hu Xiaoming, Kandi’s Chairman. On April 10, 2020, the Maple 30x was revealed in an online brand launch
ceremony. The Affiliate Company introduced its first pure electric SUV, the Maple 30x, which is available for immediate pre-order.
 
On February 4, 2020, we announced that our subsidiary SC Autosports, the exclusive distributor of Kandi electric cars in the U.S., has begun taking
dealer applications to sell Kandi electric cars in the U.S..
 
On March 3, 2020, we announced that full operations have resumed at the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. Like most companies in China,
our first quarter results will be impacted by the coronavirus-related closures. We believe those actions were necessary to help our country bring the virus
outbreak under control. We cooperated fully with government directives, with our primary focus being the health and safety of our employees and
customers.
 
After two years of negotiation, on March 9, 2020, we announced that a real estate repurchase agreement was entered into by and between Kandi
Vehicles and Jinhua Economic and Technological Development Zone that will enable Kandi Vehicles to optimize its production efficiency, lower operating
costs, and generate a substantial cash inflow of RMB 525 million (USD 75.6 million) and will bring to Kandi no less than RMB 500 million (USD 71.9
million) subsidies based on Kandi Vehicle’s financial contribution to the local department of finance within the next eight years by selling one of its largest
assets.
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 Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 
You should carefully consider the risks described below together with all of the other information included in this report before making an investment
decision with regard to our securities. The statements contained in or incorporated into this Annual Report that are not historic facts are forward -looking
statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by forward-
looking statements. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be harmed. In that case,
the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
 
Risks Relating to Our Business
 
Our future growth is dependent upon consumers’ willingness to adopt EVs.
 
Our growth is highly dependent upon the adoption by consumers of, and we are subject to a risk of any reduced demand for, alternative fuel vehicles in
general and EVs in particular. The market for alternative fuel vehicles (including EVs) is relatively new and rapidly evolving, characterized by rapidly
changing technologies, price competition, additional competitors, evolving government regulation and industry standards, frequent new vehicle
announcements and changing consumer demands and behaviors. If the market for EVs in China does not develop as we expect or develops more slowly
than we expect, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results will be harmed.
 
Developments in alternative technologies or improvements in the internal combustion engine may materially adversely affect the demand for
our EV Products.
 
Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as advanced diesel, ethanol, fuel cells or compressed natural gas, or improvements in the fuel
economy of the internal combustion engine, may materially and adversely affect our business and prospects in ways we do not currently anticipate. Any
failure by us to develop new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies, could materially delay our
development and introduction of new and enhanced EV products, which could result in the loss of competitiveness of our vehicles, decreased revenue
and a loss of market share to competitors.
 
If we are unable to keep up with advances in electric vehicle technology, we may suffer a decline in our competitive position.
 
We may be unable to keep up with changes in EV technology, and we may suffer a resulting decline in our competitive position. Any failure to keep up
with advances in EV technology would result in a decline in our competitive position which would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
operating results and financial condition. Our research and development efforts may not be sufficient to adapt to changes in EV technology. As
technologies change, we plan to upgrade or adapt the vehicles and introduce new models in order to continue to provide vehicles with the latest
technology, in particular battery cell technology. However, our vehicles may not compete effectively with alternative vehicles if we are not able to source
and integrate the latest technology into our vehicles. For example, we do not manufacture battery cells, which makes us dependent upon other suppliers
of battery cell technology for our battery packs.
 
Our business depends substantially on the continuing efforts of our executive officers, and our business may be severely disrupted if we lose
their services.
 
Our future success depends substantially on the continued services of our executive officers, especially our CEO and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Hu
Xiaoming. We do not maintain key man life insurance on any of our executive officers. If any of our executive officers are unable or unwilling to continue
in their present positions, we may not be able to replace them readily, if at all. Therefore, our business may be severely disrupted, and we may incur
additional expenses to recruit and retain new officers. In addition, if any of our executive officers joins a competitor or forms a competing company, we
may lose some of our customers.
 
We may be subject to product liability claims or recalls which could be expensive, damage our reputation or result in a diversion of
management resources.
 
We may be subject to lawsuits resulting from injuries associated with the use of the vehicles that we sell or produce. We may incur losses relating to
these claims or the defense of these claims. There is a risk that claims or liabilities will exceed our insurance coverage. In addition, we may be unable to
retain adequate liability insurance in the future.
 
We may also be required to participate in recalls involving our vehicles, if any (including the products SC Autosports sells in the U.S.) prove to be
defective, or we may voluntarily initiate a recall or make payments related to such claims as a result of various industry or business practices or the need
to maintain good customer relationships. Such a recall would result in a diversion of resources. While we do maintain product liability insurance, we
cannot assure investors that it will be sufficient to cover all product liability claims, that such claims will not exceed our insurance coverage limits or that
such insurance will continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Any product liability claim brought against us could have a
material adverse effect on the results of our operations.
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We retain certain personal information about our customers and may be subject to various privacy and consumer protection laws.
 
We and our operating companies use the electronic systems of our vehicles to log information about each vehicle’s condition, performance and use in
order to aid us in providing customer service, including vehicle diagnostics, repair and maintenance, as well as to help us collect data regarding our
customers’ charge time, battery usage, mileage and efficiency habits and to improve our vehicles. We also collect information about our customers
through our website, at our stores and facilities, and via telephone.
 
Our customers may object to the processing of this data, which may negatively impact our ability to provide effective customer service and develop new
vehicles and products. Collection and use of our customers’ personal information in conducting our business may be subject to national and local laws
and regulations in China, and such laws and regulations may restrict our processing of such personal information and hinder our ability to attract new
customers or market to existing customers. We may incur significant expenses to comply with privacy, consumer protection and security standards and
protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards or contractual obligations. Although we take steps to protect the security of our customers’
personal information, we may be required to expend significant resources to comply with data breach requirements if third parties improperly obtain and
use the personal information of our customers or we otherwise experience a data loss with respect to customers’ personal information. A major breach of
our network security and systems could have serious negative consequences for our businesses and future prospects, including possible fines, penalties
and damages, reduced customer demand for our vehicles, and harm to our reputation and brand.
 
Our business will be adversely affected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from unauthorized use or infringement by
third parties.
 
Any failure to adequately protect our proprietary rights could result in the weakening or loss of such rights, which may allow our competitors to offer
similar or identical products or use identical or confusingly similar branding, potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage, a
decrease in our revenue or an attribution of potentially lower quality products to us, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition and operating results. Our success depends, at least in part, on our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. To
accomplish this, we rely on a combination of patents, patent applications, trade secrets (including know-how), employee and third-party nondisclosure
agreements, copyright protection, trademarks, intellectual property licenses and other contractual rights to establish and protect our proprietary rights in
our technology. We have also received from third parties patent licenses related to manufacturing our vehicles.
 
The protection provided by the patent laws is and will be important to our future opportunities. However, such patents and agreements and various other
measures we take to protect our intellectual property from use by others may not be effective for various reasons, including the following:
 

● our pending patent applications may not result in the issuance of patents;
 

● our patents, if issued, may not be broad enough to protect our commercial endeavors;
 

● the patents we have been granted may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented because of the pre-existence of similar patented or
unpatented technology or for other reasons;

 
● the costs associated with obtaining and enforcing patents, confidentiality and invention agreements or other intellectual property rights may make

aggressive enforcement impracticable; or
 

● current and future competitors may independently develop similar technology, duplicate our vehicles or design new vehicles in a way that
circumvents our intellectual property.

 
Existing trademark and trade secret laws and confidentiality agreements afford only limited protections. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do
not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States, and policing the unauthorized use of our intellectual property is
difficult.
 

9



 

 
We may need to defend ourselves against patent or trademark infringement claims, which may be time-consuming and could cause us to
incur substantial costs.
 
Companies, organizations or individuals, including our competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks or other proprietary rights that would prevent,
limit or interfere with our ability to make, use, develop, sell or market our vehicles or components, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our
business. From time to time, we may receive inquiries from holders of patents or trademarks regarding their proprietary rights. Companies holding patents
or other intellectual property rights may bring suits alleging infringement of such rights or otherwise assert their rights and seek licenses. In addition, if we
are determined to have infringed upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following:
 

● cease selling, incorporating or using vehicles or offering goods or services that incorporate or use the challenged intellectual property;
 

● pay substantial damages;
 

● obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or
 

● redesign our vehicles or other goods or services.
  
In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed technology or other intellectual
property right, our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In addition, any litigation or
claims, whether or not valid, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention.
 
We may also face claims that our use of technology licensed or otherwise obtained from a third party infringes the rights of others. In such cases, we may
seek indemnification from our licensors/suppliers under our contracts with them. However, indemnification may be unavailable or insufficient to cover our
costs and losses, depending on our use of the technology, whether we choose to retain control over conduct of the litigation, and other factors.
 
Our vehicles make use of lithium-ion battery cells, which have the potential to catch fire or vent smoke and flame. This may lead to additional
concerns about batteries used in automotive applications.
 
The battery packs in our EV products make use of lithium-ion cells. We also currently intend to make use of lithium-ion cells in battery packs on any future
vehicles we may produce. On rare occasions, lithium-ion cells can rapidly release the energy they contain by venting smoke and flames in a manner that
can ignite nearby materials as well as other lithium-ion cells. Extremely rare incidents of laptop computers, cell phones and EV battery packs catching fire
have focused consumer attention on the safety of these cells.
 
These events have raised concerns about batteries used in automotive applications. To address these questions and concerns, a number of battery cell
manufacturers are pursuing alternative lithium-ion battery cell chemistries to improve safety. We may have to recall our vehicles or participate in a recall
of a vehicle that contains our battery packs, or redesign our battery packs, which would be time consuming and expensive. Also, negative public
perceptions regarding the suitability of lithium-ion cells for automotive applications or any future incident involving lithium-ion cells such as a vehicle or
other fire, even if such incident does not involve us, could seriously harm our business.
 
In addition, we store a significant number of lithium-ion cells at our manufacturing facility. Any mishandling of battery cells may cause disruption to the
operation of our facilities. While we have implemented safety procedures related to the handling of the cells, there can be no assurance that a safety
issue or fire related to the cells would not disrupt our operations. Such damage or injury would likely lead to adverse publicity and potentially a safety
recall. Moreover, any failure of a competitor’s EV, may cause indirect adverse publicity for us and our EV products. Such adverse publicity would
negatively affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
 
Compliance with environmental regulations can be expensive, and noncompliance with these regulations may result in adverse publicity and
potentially significant monetary damages and fines.
 
Our business operations generate noise, waste water, gaseous byproduct and other industrial waste. We are required to comply with all national and
local regulations regarding the protection of the environment. We are in compliance with current environmental protection requirements and have all
necessary environmental permits to conduct our business. However, if more stringent regulations are adopted in the future, the costs of compliance with
these new regulations could be substantial. Additionally, if we fail to comply with present or future environmental regulations, we may be required to pay
substantial fines, suspend production or cease operations. Any failure by us to control the use of, or to adequately restrict the unauthorized discharge of,
hazardous substances could subject us to potentially significant monetary damages and fines or suspensions to our business operations. Certain laws,
ordinances and regulations could limit our ability to develop, use, or sell our products.
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Our high concentration of sales to relatively few customers may result in significant impact on our liquidity, business, results of operations
and financial condition.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 our major customers (above 10% of the total revenue), in the aggregate, accounted for 78% and 76%, respectively,
of our sales. Due to the concentration of sales to relatively few customers including the Affiliate Company, loss of one or more of these customers will
have relatively high impact on our operational results. In the event that our relationship with the Affiliate Company and/or our partner in the Affiliate
Company changes negatively, our operating results would be materially negatively affected.
 
Our business is subject to the risk of supplier concentrations.
 
We depend on a limited number of suppliers for the sourcing of major components and parts and principal raw materials. For the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018 our top two suppliers accounted for 84% and 42% of our purchases, respectively. As a result of this concentration in our supply chain,
our business and operations would be negatively affected if any of our key suppliers were to experience significant disruption affecting the price, quality,
availability or timely delivery of their products. The partial or complete loss of these suppliers, or a significant adverse change in our relationship with any
of these suppliers, could result in lost revenue, added costs and distribution delays that could harm our business and customer relationships. In addition,
concentration in our supply chain can exacerbate our exposure to risks associated with the termination by key suppliers of our distribution agreements or
any adverse change in the terms of such agreements, which could have a negative impact on our revenues and profitability.
 
Our facilities or operations could be damaged or adversely affected as a result of disasters, epidemics or other unpredictable events.
 
Our headquarters and facilities are located in several cities in China such as Jinhua, Yongkang and Haikou. If major disasters such as earthquakes, fires,
floods, hurricanes, wars, terrorist attacks, computer viruses, pandemics or other events occur, or our information system or communications network
breaks down or operates improperly, our headquarters and production facilities may be seriously damaged, or we may have to stop or delay production
and shipment of our products. For example, our business could be adversely affected by the effects of a widespread outbreak of contagious disease,
including the recent outbreak of COVID-19. Any outbreak of contagious diseases, and other adverse public health developments, particularly in China,
could have a material and adverse effect on our business operations. These could include disruptions or restrictions on our ability to travel or to distribute
our products, as well as temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of our suppliers, manufacturers or customers. Any disruption or delay of our
operation and those of our suppliers, manufacturers or customers would adversely impact our sales and operating results. In addition, a significant
outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect the economies and
financial markets of China and many other countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could affect demand for our products and we may incur
expenses relating to such damages, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition.
 
Pandemic COVID-19 may adversely impact the transportation industry and our business.
 
Our ability to manufacture and/or sell our products may be impaired by damage or disruption to our manufacturing, warehousing or distribution
capabilities, or to the capabilities of our suppliers, logistics service providers or independent distributors. This damage or disruption could result from
factors that are hard to predict or are beyond our control, such as natural disasters, fire, terrorism, pandemics, strikes, cybersecurity breaches,
government shutdowns, disruptions in logistics, supplier capacity constraints or other events. Affected by COVID-19, we expect the first quarter of 2020
will see large revenue decrease on EV parts sales comparing to the corresponding quarter in 2019.
 
Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, may
adversely affect our business or financial results. Disputes with significant suppliers, logistics service providers or independent distributors, including
disputes regarding pricing or performance, may also adversely affect our ability to manufacture and/or sell our products, as well as our business or
financial results. We are actively monitoring the recent coronavirus outbreak and its potential impact on our supply chain and operations. Due to current
and potential future port closures and other restrictions resulting from the outbreak, global supply may become constrained, which may cause the
negative impact on our sale of off-road vehicles to the U.S. While we do not expect that the virus will have a material adverse effect on our business or
financial results at this time, we are unable to accurately predict the impact that the coronavirus will have due to various uncertainties, including the
ultimate geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and effectiveness of the actions that may be taken by
governmental authorities.
 
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As
a result, current and potential shareholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the trading
price of our stock.
 
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. As directed by Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or SOX 404, the SEC adopted rules requiring public companies to include a report of management on our internal controls
over financial reporting in their annual reports.
 
Although we continue to maintain and improve our internal control procedures, we cannot provide assurance that we will not fail to achieve and maintain
an effective internal control environment on an ongoing basis, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and
have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
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The audit report included in this Annual Report for the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 was prepared by our former
auditors who are not inspected by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and, as a result, investors are deprived of the benefits of
such inspection.
 
The independent registered public accounting firm that issues the audit reports included in our annual reports filed with the SEC, as auditors of
companies that are traded publicly in the United States and a firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), or the
“PCAOB”, is required by the laws of the United States to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the laws of the United
States and professional standards. Because our former auditors are located in China, a jurisdiction where the PCAOB is currently unable to conduct
inspections without the approval of Chinese authorities, our former auditors have not been and are not currently inspected by the PCAOB.
 
Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has conducted outside China have identified deficiencies in those firms’ audit procedures and quality control
procedures, which may be addressed as part of the inspection process to improve future audit quality. The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections
in China prevents the PCAOB from regularly evaluating our auditor’s statements, audits and quality control procedures. As a result, investors may be
deprived of the benefits of PCAOB inspections.
 
Our current auditors are subject to the PCAOB inspections.
 
Risks Related to Doing Business in China
 
The economy of China had experienced unprecedented growth. This growth has slowed in the recent years, and if the growth of the economy
continues to slow or if the economy contracts, our financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.
 
The rapid growth of the Chinese economy had historically resulted in widespread growth opportunities for industries across China. This growth has
slowed in the recent years. As a result of the global financial crisis and the inability of enterprises to gain comparable access to the same amounts of
capital available in past years, there may be an adverse effect on the business climate and growth of private enterprises in China. An economic
slowdown could have an adverse effect on our sales and may increase our costs. Further, if economic growth continues to slow, and if, in conjunction,
inflation continues unchecked, our costs would be likely to increase, and there can be no assurance that we would be able to increase our prices to an
extent that would offset the increase in our expenses.
 
In addition, a tightening of the labor markets in our geographic region may result in fewer qualified applicants for job openings in our facilities. Further,
higher wages, related labor costs and other increasing cost trends may negatively impact our results.
 
Clearly, the outbreak and the extraordinary official measures to contain it have hit China’s economy hard. February 7-13 Reuters poll of 40 economists
based in mainland China, Hong Kong, Singapore, as well as Europe and the United States, predicted China’s annual economic growth in the first quarter
of 2020 to slump to 4.5% from 6.0% in the previous quarter. That drop was expected to drag down the full-year growth rate in 2020 to 5.5% from 6.1% in
2019, its weakest since at least 1990 when comparable records began. This may further adversely impact the Company’s financial results.
  
Changes in political and economic conditions may affect our business operations and profitability.
 
Since our business operations are primarily located in China, our business operations and financial position are subject, to a significant degree, to the
economic, political and legal developments in China.
 
While the Chinese government has not halted its economic reform policy since 1978, any significant adverse changes in the social, political and
economic conditions of China may fundamentally impact China’s economic reform policies, and thus the Company’s operations and profits may be
adversely affected.
 

12



 

 
Uncertainties with respect to the Chinese legal system could have a material adverse effect on us and may restrict the level of legal
protections to foreign investors.
 
China’s legal system is based on statutory law. Unlike the common law system, statutory law is based primarily on written statutes. Previous court
decisions may be cited as persuasive authority but do not have a binding effect. Since 1979, the Chinese government has been promulgating and
amending laws and regulations regarding economic matters, such as corporate organization and governance, foreign investment, commerce, taxation
and trade. However, since these laws and regulations are relatively new, and the Chinese legal system continues to rapidly evolve, the interpretation of
many laws, regulations and rules is not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involves uncertainties, which may limit legal
protections available to us.
 
In addition, any litigation in China may be protracted and may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention. The
legal system in China cannot provide investors with the same level of protection as in the U.S. The Company is governed by laws and regulations
generally applicable to local enterprises in China. Many of these laws and regulations were recently introduced and remain experimental in nature and
subject to changes and refinements. Interpretation, implementation and enforcement of the existing laws and regulations can be uncertain and
unpredictable and therefore may restrict the legal protections available to foreign investors.
 
Changes in currency conversion policies in China may have a material adverse effect on us.
 
Renminbi (“RMB”) is still not a freely exchangeable currency. Since 1998, the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of China has promulgated a
series of circulars and rules in order to enhance verification of foreign exchange payments under a Chinese entity’s current account items, and has
imposed strict requirements on borrowing and repayments of foreign exchange debts from and to foreign creditors under the capital account items and on
the creation of foreign security in favor of foreign creditors.
 
This may complicate foreign exchange payments to foreign creditors under the current account items and thus may affect the ability to borrow under
international commercial loans, the creation of foreign security, and the borrowing of RMB under guarantees in foreign currencies. Moreover, the value of
RMB may become subject to supply and demand, which could be largely impacted by international economic and political environments. Any fluctuations
in the exchange rate of RMB could have an adverse effect on the operational and financial condition of the Company and its subsidiaries in China.
  
Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect our business and the value of our securities.
 
The value of our common stock will be indirectly affected by the foreign exchange rate between U.S. dollars and RMB and between those currencies and
other currencies in which our sales may be denominated. Because substantially all of our earnings and cash assets are denominated in RMB,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the RMB will affect our balance sheet and our earnings per share in U.S. dollars. In
addition, appreciation or depreciation in the value of the RMB relative to the U.S. dollar would affect our financial results reported in U.S. dollar terms
without giving effect to any underlying change in our business or results of operations.
 
Investors may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process, enforcing judgements or bringing original actions based on United
States or foreign laws against us or our management.
 
We conduct substantially all of our operations in China and almost all of our assets are located in China. In addition, almost all of our senior executive
officers reside in China. As a result, it may not be possible to effect service of process on our senior executive officers within the United States or
elsewhere outside China, including with respect to matters arising under U.S. federal securities laws or applicable state securities laws. Moreover, our
Chinese counsel has advised us that China does not have treaties with the United States or many other countries providing for the reciprocal recognition
and enforcement of court orders and final judgments.
 
Changes to the government’s subsidy support policies and further delays in subsidy payments may have negative impacts on our operations.
 
On March 31, 2020, in order to promote automobile consumption, the executive meeting of the State Council decided to extend two preferential policies
of new energy vehicle purchase subsidy and vehicle purchase tax exemption for another two years, which were originally due at the end 2020. However,
there is no assurance that such favorable policies will be further extended when they become due in two years. Any unfavorable changes of the policies,
the unavailability, reduction or elimination of government and economic incentives could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, operating results and prospects.
  
Risks Associated With the Export of Kandi Electric Vehicles to the United States
 
Our intellectual property rights may be harmed by competitors preemptively filing legitimate and illegitimate patents, which could create
significant barriers for our business by preventing us from adequately protecting our intellectual property.
 
Multinational automobile companies usually obtain patent portfolios consisting of basic patents and peripheral patents on improvements and related
technologies, thereby creating patent barriers in the industry.  At the same time, certain multinational automobile companies also maliciously apply for
patents, in order to obtain an unlawful competitive advantage or to directly receive invalid rights and use patents as weapons in litigation. New energy
vehicles are emerging products in worldwide markets in recent years, while relevant and related patents in the industry are still in force.  Kandi may be
seriously adversely affected by intellectual property rights barriers through participation in the competitive international automobile market. Therefore,
Kandi faces risks of patent barriers and intellectual property litigation in the future.
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Failures in our overseas business and export trade processes may present a risk of significant losses to our business.
 
Our automobile product export and overseas operations sections involve import and export currency exchange, insurance, ocean transportation, customs
clearance and various other logistical procedures. A loss of trust in any part of the chain can lead to the failure of transactions, which in turn causes huge
losses to our enterprise. In the future, the Company will expand its overseas market. An insufficient assessment of the capital strength and commercial
credit of its partners, or any fraud in risk prevention and risk control systems may cause economic losses for the Company due to its business partners’
breach of contract or even fraud. In short, the export of Kandi electric vehicles to the United States may have risks in the overseas operation and export
trade process.
 
The developed countries that import our products have strict environmental laws and regulations which may cause us to expend significant
sums to comply with such laws and regulations.
 
The United States and other developed countries have strong awareness of environmental protection and product safety regulations. The penalties for
violating environmental laws in such countries are extremely high. Developed countries have mature and highly saturated automobile markets. Costs
associated with maintaining controls over atmospheric emissions, harmful toxic substances, and products safety are getting higher in an accelerated
manner. The process for a company to obtain the applicable certifications is time-consuming, complicated and expensive. Kandi will also face the
adverse impact of compliance with policy and regulatory standards in the United States. Thus, Kandi may face the risk of not being able to sustain its
business in accordance with US and state environmental protection and product safety policies and regulations.
 
Our short-term financial performance may suffer due to our investment in expanding our presence and sales in the United States.
 
Chinese auto products have market competition disadvantages in terms of technology content, product structure, product quality and brand influence. It is
difficult to reverse the sentiment of “low quality and low price” that have followed Chinese automobiles for a long time, resulting in weakened bargaining
power for Chinese auto companies and generally low gross profit margins. Kandi is expanding into the US market and rely on overseas distributors to
establish a marketing network and after-sales service guarantee system. All actions require the Company to invest a certain amount of resources.
Additionally electric vehicle sales may face a slow growth period. In a certain period of time, the growth of operating income lags behind the increase in
sales inputs. At the same time, the Company cannot predict the direct economic loss caused by an unsatisfactory market expansion caused by the
adverse factors of market competition. Cash flows for Kandi and SC Autosports may be significantly adversely affected by large investments and small
revenues in the short term. Therefore, there may be a risk that the short-term financial performance indicators will fall due to factors such as the
expansion of resources in overseas markets.
 
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Securities
 
Our stock price may be volatile, which may result in losses for our shareholders.
 
The stock markets have experienced significant price and trading volume fluctuations. Although our stock has been trading on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market since January 2, 2014, the trading price of our common stock may be volatile and could fluctuate significantly in response to many factors,
including the following, some of which are beyond our control:
 

● variations in our operating results;
 

● changes in expectations of our future financial performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts and investors;
 

● changes in operating and stock price performance of other companies in our industry;
 

● additions or departures of key personnel; or
 

● general sentiment on China-based companies’ securities.
 
Domestic and international stock markets often experience significant price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations, as well as general economic and
political conditions unrelated to our performance, may adversely affect the price of our common stock.
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Mr. Hu, our CEO, President and Chairman of our Board, is the beneficial owner of a substantial portion of our outstanding common stock,
which may enable Mr. Hu to exert significant influence on corporate actions.
 
Excelvantage Group Limited controls approximately 24.3% of our outstanding shares of common stock as of December 31, 2019. Hu Xiaoming, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors, is the sole stockholder of Excelvantage Group Limited. Together
with the shares held through Excelvantage Group Limited, Mr. Hu controls 26.9% of our outstanding shares of common stock, which could have a
substantial impact on matters requiring the vote of our shareholders, including the election of our directors and other corporate actions. This control could
delay, defer or prevent others from initiating a potential merger, takeover or other change in control, even if these actions would benefit our other
shareholders and the Company. This control could adversely affect the voting and other rights of our other shareholders and could depress the market
price of our common stock.
 
We do not anticipate paying cash dividends to our common shareholders.
 
We presently do not anticipate that we will pay dividends on any of our common stock in the foreseeable future. If payment of dividends does occur at
some point in the future, it would be contingent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements, and general financial condition. The
payment of any common stock dividends will be within the discretion of our Board. We presently intend to retain all earnings in order to implement our
business plan; accordingly, we do not anticipate the declaration of any dividends for common stock in the foreseeable future.
  
The limitation of monetary liability against our directors, officers and employees under Delaware Law and the existence of statutory
indemnification rights of our directors, officers and employees may result in substantial expenditures by our company and may discourage
lawsuits against our directors, officers and employees.
 
Our certificate of incorporation does not contain any specific provisions that limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the Company or
shareholders; however, we are prepared to indemnify our directors and officers to the extent provided for by Delaware law. We may also have included
contractual indemnification obligations in our employment agreements with our officers. The foregoing indemnification obligations could result in the
Company incurring substantial expenditures to cover the cost of settlement or damage awards against its directors and officers, which we may be unable
to recoup. These provisions and resultant costs may also discourage the Company from bringing a lawsuit against directors and officers for breaches of
their fiduciary duties, and may similarly discourage the filing of derivative litigation by our shareholders against our directors and officers even though such
actions, if successful, might otherwise benefit the Company and shareholders.
 
We may require additional capital, and the sale of additional shares or other equity securities could result in additional dilution to our
shareholders.
 
In the future, we may require additional cash resources due to changed business conditions or other future developments, including investments or
acquisitions that we may decide to pursue. If our resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt
securities or obtain a credit facility. The sale of additional equity securities could result in dilution to our shareholders. The incurrence of indebtedness
would result in increased debt service obligations and could result in operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations. We cannot
assure investors that financing will be available, if at all, in amounts or on terms acceptable to us.
 
Our business is subject to changing regulations related to corporate governance and public disclosure that may increase both our costs and
the risk of noncompliance.
 
Because our common stock is publicly traded, we are subject to certain rules and regulations of federal, state and financial market exchange entities
charged with the protection of investors and the oversight of companies whose securities are publicly traded. These entities, including the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board, the SEC and NASDAQ, have issued requirements and regulations and continue to develop additional regulations
and requirements in response to corporate scandals and laws enacted by Congress. Our efforts to comply with these regulations have resulted in, and
are likely to continue resulting in, increased general and administrative expenses and diversion of management time and attention from revenue -
generating activities to compliance activities. Because new and modified laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations in many
cases due to their lack of specificity, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies.
This evolution may result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and additional costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to our disclosure
and governance practices.
  
Techniques employed by manipulative short sellers in Chinese small cap stocks may drive down the market price of our common stock.
 
Short selling is the practice of selling securities that the seller does not own but rather has, supposedly, borrowed from a third party with the intention of
buying identical securities back at a later date to return to the lender. The short seller hopes to profit from a decline in the value of the securities between
the sale of the borrowed securities and the purchase of the replacement shares, as the short seller expects to pay less in that purchase than it received in
the sale. As it is therefore in the short seller’s best interests for the price of the stock to decline, many short sellers (sometimes known as “disclosed
shorts”) publish, or arrange for the publication of, negative opinions or reports regarding the relevant issuer and its business prospects in order to create
negative market momentum and generate profits for themselves after selling a stock short. These short attacks have, in the past, led to selling of shares
in the market, on occasion in large scale and broad base.
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Short seller publications are not regulated by any governmental, self-regulatory organization or other official authority in the U.S. and are not subject to
the certification requirements imposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission in Regulation AC (Regulation Analyst Certification) and, accordingly,
the opinions they express may be based on distortions of actual facts or, in some cases, fabrications of facts. In light of the limited risks involved in
publishing such information, and the enormous profit that can be made from running just one successful short attack, unless the short sellers become
subject to significant penalties, it is more likely than not that disclosed short sellers will continue to issue such reports.
 
While we intend to strongly defend our public filings against any such short seller attack, often times we are constrained, either by principles of freedom of
speech, applicable state law (often called “Anti-SLAPP statutes”), or issues of commercial confidentiality, in the manner in which we can proceed against
the relevant short seller. You should be aware that in light of the relative freedom to operate that such persons enjoy – oftentimes blogging from outside
the U.S. with little or no assets or identity requirements – should we be targeted for such an attack, our stock will likely suffer from a temporary, or
possibly long term, decline in market price should the rumors created not be dismissed by market participants.
 
 Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
 
None.
 
 Item 2. Properties.
 
Kandi had the following granted land use rights as of December 31, 2019:
 

  Area      
Location  (square meters)  Term and Expiration  Certificate No.
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   72,901  Nov 13, 2002 - Nov 13, 2052  10-75013
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   39,491  Nov 13, 2002 - Nov 13, 2052  10-75014
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   46,651  Dec 30, 2003 - Dec 30, 2053  110-12504
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   37,515  Dec 30, 2003 - Dec 30, 2053  110-12850
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   49,162  Dec 30, 2003 - Dec 30, 2053  110-11343
Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park*   19,309  Dec 07, 2009 - Dec 07, 2059  110-05918
Zhejiang Qiaoxia Industrial Park   5,864  Apr 03, 2001 - Apr 03, 2051  574-26-36
Zhejiang Qiaoxia Industrial Park   3,851  Jan 21, 2018 - Jan 20, 2068  3310-1414461
 
* On March 10, 2020, Kandi Vehicles and Jinhua Economic and Technological Development Zone (or the “local government”) entered into a real estate
repurchase agreement (the “Repurchase Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company sold its land use rights over the 265,029 square meters land
areas in Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park and the real properties on such land (the transaction, the “Land Repurchase”). Pursuant to the Repurchase
Agreement, the local government agreed to pay Kandi Vehicles an aggregate of approximately RMB525 million (approximately $75 million), payable in
three installments.
 
As of December 31, 2019, the net book value of Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park’s land use rights pledged as collateral for the Company’s bank loans
were $4,937,138. Pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement, part of the first installment paid by the local government will be directly paid to the banks to
remove the liens imposed in connection with these bank loans.
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All land in China is owned by the government and cannot be sold or transferred by or to any individual or private entity. Instead, the government grants or
allocates landholders “land use rights.” There are four methods to acquire land use rights:
 

● grant of the right to use land;
 

● assignment of the right to use land;
 

● lease of the right to use land; or
 

● allocated land use rights.
 
In comparison with the western common law concepts, granted land use rights are similar to life estates and allocated land use rights are in some ways
similar to leaseholds.
 
Granted land use rights are provided by the Chinese government in exchange for a grant fee and carry the rights to pledge, mortgage, lease, and transfer
during the term of the grant. Land is granted for a fixed term, which is generally 70 years for residential use, 50 years for industrial use, and 40 years for
commercial or other use. The term is renewable in theory. Granted land must be used for the specific purpose for which it was granted.
 
Allocated land use rights cannot be pledged, mortgaged, leased, or transferred. They are generally provided by the government for an indefinite period
(usually to state-owned entities) and can be reclaimed by the government at any time. Allocated land use rights may be converted into granted land use
rights upon the payment of a grant fee to the government.
 
Kandi has the following real estate properties:
 
Jinhua City, Zhejiang
 
The Company owns the following facilities located in Jinhua Industrial Park, Jinhua City, Zhejiang Province, China. The table below lists the primary
facilities and the status of each facility as of December 31, 2019:
 
  Area    
Description  (square meters)  Status
Factories   93,979  Fully operational
Sales Center   3,130  Fully operational
Test Center   2,220  Fully operational
Staff quarters   8,090  Fully operational
Canteen   2,602  Fully operational
 
As of December 31, 2019, the net book value of Zhejiang Jinhua Industrial Park’s property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral for the Company’s
bank loans were $ 6,484,497. As a result of the Land Repurchase discussed above, the Company has sold its land use rights in Jinhua Industrial Park
and the real properties on such land to the local government. Pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement, the Company will need to deliver a vacated land to
the local government before November 30, 2020. In addition, part of the local government’s first payment will be used to pay off the bank loans and
consequently, to remove the liens on these properties.
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Yongkang City, Zhejiang
 
The Company owns the following facilities located in Yongkang City, Zhejiang Province, China. The table below lists the primary facilities and the status
of each facility:
 
  Area    
Description  (square meters)  Status
Office   1,301  Fully operational
Factories   4,457  Fully operational
Warehouse   341  Fully operational
Multi-purpose room   480  Fully operational
 
Haikou City, Hainan
 
In December 2015, the Company signed an investment contract with Haikou State High Technology Industry Development Zone to build up the EV
production facility in Haikou City to an annual production of 100,000 EV products. Currently, the Hainan facility’s main project including manufacturing
plant and office, main manufacturing equipment and facilities has been completed.
 
  Area    
Description  (square meters)  Status
Factories   196,000*  Completed
 
* Estimate number based on investment agreement signed with local government as the land certificate is in the process of application.
 
 Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
 
From time to time, the Company is involved in legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Except as set forth in Note 24 - COMMITMENTS
AND CONTINGENCIES under Item 8 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, our management is currently not aware of any legal matters or
pending litigation that would have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operation of financial statements. For the detailed discussion of our
legal proceedings, please refer to Note 24 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES under Item 8 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which is
incorporated by reference herein.
 
Other than the above described legal proceedings, the Company is not aware of any other legal matters in which any director, officer, or any owner of
record or beneficial owner of more than five percent of any class of voting securities of the Company, or any affiliate of any such director, officer, affiliate
of the Company, or security holder, is a party adverse to the Company or has a material adverse interest to the Company. No provision has been made
in the consolidated financial statements for the above contingencies.
 
 Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 
Not applicable.
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 PART II

 
 Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 
Market Information
 
On January 2, 2014, our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “KNDI”.
 
Holders of Common Stock
 
As of April 23, 2020, there were 23 shareholders of record of our common stock. This does not include all beneficial holders who hold shares through
their brokerage accounts.
 
Dividends
 
We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock. Our policy is to retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds for the operation and expansion of
our business. We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to declare cash dividends will be made at
the discretion of our Board, subject to applicable laws, and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general
business conditions and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.
 
Sales of Unregistered Securities
 
None.
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
 
On May 14, 2019, the board of directors had authorized the repurchase of up to $20 million worth of the Company’s common stock in open market
transactions or in privately negotiated transactions. As previously disclosed, the Company had repurchased a total of 487,155 common shares at an
average stock price of $5.09 per share under the repurchase plan. There was no repurchase during the fourth quarter of 2019 and such repurchase plan
expired on December 31, 2019.  
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

Plan category  

Number of
securities to

be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options,
warrants

and rights   

Weighted-
average

exercise price
of

outstanding
options,
warrants

and rights   

Number of
securities
remaining

available for
future

issuance
under
equity

compensation
plans

(excluding
securities
reflected

in column (a))  
  (a)   (b)   (c)  
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders        N/A         N/A    N/A 
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   3,900,000   9.72   13,516,731 
Totals   3,900,000   9.72   13,516,731 

 
 ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 

As a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10 of Regulation S-K, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
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 Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.
 
Overview
 
We are one of the leading manufacturers of EV products (through Kandi Hainan and the Affiliate Company), EV parts and off-road vehicles in China. For
the year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized total revenue of $ 135,741,336 as compared to $112,438,828 for the year ended December 31,
2018, an increase of $ 23,302,508 or 20.7%. In 2019, we recorded $ 25,430,909 of gross profit, an increase of 25.6% from 2018. Gross margin for the
year ended December 31, 2019 was 18.7%, compared to 18.0% for the year ended December 31, 2018. We recorded a net loss of $7,188,727 in 2019
compared to a net loss of $5,694,699 in 2018, an increase of net loss of $1,494,028 or 26.2%.
 
The current subsidy standard is provided for in the Circular on Further Improving the Subsidy Policies for the Promotion and Application of New Energy
Vehicles, which was jointly promulgated by the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Science and Technology, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology and the National Development and Reform Commission in 2019. The current subsidy standard reduces the amount of national subsidies and
cancels local subsidies, resulting in a significant reduction in the total subsidy amount as compared to 2018. We believe the new subsidy standard
presents both challenges and opportunities to the Company. In the past few years, although the government had a strong support policy for new energy
vehicles, the unstable subsidy policy and the unpredictable timing of receiving such subsidies have exerted tremendous pressure on the Company’s
cash flow. Currently, in order to adapt to the new subsidy standard, the Affiliate Company is making full use of Geely’s resources and developing new
models with goals to be independent of the government’s subsidies and have strong competitiveness at the same time. On January 13, 2020, the
Affiliate Company hosted a launch ceremony to celebrate the release of its first production electric vehicle: the Maple Model 30X (or Maple 30X) at its
Jiangsu subsidiary. On April 13, 2020, the Maple 30x was revealed in an online brand launch ceremony and was available for immediate pre-order.
Through the equity transfer of the Affiliate Company, although our share of the Affiliate Company decreased to 22%, we believe our 22% share of income
from the Affiliate Company will exceed our 50% share of income before the equity transfer.
 
We are working on developing new business partners and clients for our products to reduce our dependence on existing customers and is focusing our
new business development efforts on EV parts and intelligent transportation products.
 
On March 4, 2019, in order to build a logistics network composed of suppliers, manufacturers, warehouses, distribution centers and channel providers,
meeting the needs of improving production and operation efficiency, the Company participated in the formation of Zhejiang Kandi Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (“Supply Chain Company”). Kandi Vehicles has a 10% ownership interest in Supply Chain Company, the remaining 90% is owned
by unrelated other parties. Through centralized purchasing from Supply Chain Company, the Company can reduce the purchasing cost by 3% to 5%.
 
The COVID-19 will affect the company’s business performance in 2020. However,, the extent to which the COVID-19 impacts our operations will depend
on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration of the outbreak, new information
which may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus and the actions to contain the coronavirus or treat its impact, among others.
 
The Company originally planned to export 2,000 to 5,000 units electric vehicles to the U.S. in 2020, but due to the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of
2020, the plan should be adjusted according to the situation of COVID-19 control in the U.S.
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Results of Operations
 
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
 
The following table sets forth the amounts and the percentage relationship to revenues of certain items in our consolidated statements of operations for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 
  Year Ended   Change in     

  
December 31,

2019   
% of

Revenue   
December 31,

2018   
% of

Revenue   
Amount 2019 

VS 2018   Change in %  
                   
REVENUES FROM UNRELATED

PARTY, NET  $ 119,879,895   88.3%  $ 63,707,518   56.7%   56,172,377   88.2%
REVENUES FROM THE AFFILIATE

COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY,
NET   15,861,441   11.7%   48,731,310   43.3%   (32,869,869)   (67.5%)

                         
REVENUES, NET   135,741,336   100.0%   112,438,828   100.0%   23,302,508   20.7%
                         
COST OF GOODS SOLD   (110,310,427)   (81.3%)  (92,191,383)   (82.0%)  (18,119,044)   19.7%
                         
GROSS PROFIT   25,430,909   18.7%   20,247,445   18.0%   5,183,464   25.6%
                         
OPERATING EXPENSES:                         
Research and development   (6,207,747)   (4.6%)  (10,084,378)   (9.0%)  3,876,631   (38.4%)
Selling and marketing   (4,070,001)   (3.0%)  (3,189,022)   (2.8%)  (880,979)   27.6%
General and administrative   (14,243,625)   (10.5%)  (8,612,393)   (7.7%)  (5,631,232)   65.4%
Total Operating Expenses   (24,521,373)   (18.1%)  (21,885,793)   (19.5%)  (2,635,580)   12.0%
                         
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS   909,536   0.7%   (1,638,348)   (1.5%)  2,547,884   (155.5%)
                         
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):                         
Interest income   791,888   0.6%   1,324,812   1.2%   (532,924)   (40.2%)
Interest expense   (4,822,734)   (3.6%)  (1,871,851)   (1.7%)  (2,950,883)   157.6%
Change in fair value of contingent

consideration   (1,107,427)   (0.8%)  3,405,864   3.0%   (4,513,291)   (132.5%)
Government grants   792,628   0.6%   17,787,445   15.8%   (16,994,817)   (95.5%)
Gain from equity dilution in the Affiliate

Company   4,263,764   3.1%   -   0.0%   4,263,764   - 
Gain from equity sale in the Affiliate

Company   20,438,986   15.1%   -   0.0%   20,438,986   - 
Share of loss after tax of the Affiliate

Company   (30,716,938)   (22.6%)  (17,888,706)   (15.9%)  (12,828,232)   71.7%
Other income, net   1,569,311   1.2%   956,839   0.9%   612,472   64.0%
Total other (expense) income, net   (8,790,522)   (6.5%)  3,714,403   3.3%   (12,504,925)   (336.7%)
                         
(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME

TAXES   (7,880,986)   (5.8%)  2,076,055   1.8%   (9,957,041)   (479.6%)
                         
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (EXPENSE)   692,259   0.5%   (7,770,754)   (6.9%)  8,463,013   (108.9%)
                         
NET LOSS   (7,188,727)   (5.3%)  (5,694,699)   (5.1%)  (1,494,028)   26.2%
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Revenues
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, we had net revenues of $ 135,741,336 compared to net revenues of $112,438,828 for the year ended
December 31, 2018, representing an increase of $23,302,508, or 20.7%, from 2018. Compared to 2018, the increase in revenue was primarily due to the
increase in sales of EV parts and off-road vehicles.
 
The following table summarizes our revenues by product type for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 
  Years Ended December 31  
  2019   2018  
  Sales   Sales  
EV parts  $ 110,675,908  $ 99,099,312 
EV products   108,640   - 
Off-road vehicles   22,743,142   13,339,516 
Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters   2,213,646   - 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

 
EV Parts
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, our revenue from the sale of EV parts was $110,675,908, representing an increase of $11,576,596 or 11.7%
from $99,099,312 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase was mainly due to the sales from rental market battery maintenance and
developing new clients in 2019.
 
Our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily consisted of revenue from the sales of battery packs, body parts, EV controllers, air
conditioning units and other auto parts for use in the manufacturing of EV products. These sales accounted for 81.5% of total sales.
 
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, our revenues from the sale of EV parts to the Affiliate Company accounted approximately 11.7%
and 43.3% of our total net revenue for the year, respectively. The decrease is mainly due to the Affiliate Company’s temporary declining sales, which was
caused by its product adjustments. During 2019, the EV parts we provided to the Affiliate Company were primarily used for battery upgrade and market
maintenance for the EV products that were previously put into the leasing market.
 
EV Products
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, our revenue from the sale of EV Products was $108,640, which was due to the export sales of Hainan
factories’ products including model K23 and K27 started in late 2019. There weren’t any EV products sales in year 2018.
 
Off-Road Vehicles
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, our revenues from the sale of off-road vehicles including go-karts, all-terrain vehicles (“ATVs”), and others,
were $ 22,743,142, representing an increase of $ 9,403,626 or 70.5% from $13,339,516 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase in
revenue of off-road vehicles was largely due to the increase sales from SC Autosports. We consolidated SC Autosports’s sales of off-road vehicles of
$18,106,091 and $7,898,736 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. SC Autosports became our wholly-owned subsidiary in the U.S. in July
2018.
 
Our off-road vehicles business line accounted for approximately 16.8% of our total net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, our revenue from the sale of Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters was $2,213,646. These
were new products launched by Kandi Vehicles in 2019. There weren’t any Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters sales in years 2018.
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The following table shows the breakdown of our net revenues:
 
  Year Ended December 31  
  2019   2018  

  
Sales

Revenue   
Sales

Revenue  
Primary geographical markets         
Overseas  $ 24,623,424  $ 12,741,570 
China   111,117,912   99,697,258 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Major products         
EV parts  $ 110,675,908  $ 99,099,312 
EV products   108,640   - 
Off-road vehicles   22,743,142   13,339,516 
Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters   2,213,646   - 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Timing of revenue recognition         
Products transferred at a point in time  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 
 
Cost of Goods Sold
 
Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $110,310,427, representing an increase of $18,119,044, or 19.7%, from $92,191,383 for
the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase of cost of goods sold compare to 2018 was primarily due to the corresponding increase in sales.
Please refer to the Gross Profit section below for product margin analysis.
 
Gross Profit
 
Our margins by product for the past two years are as set forth below:
 
  2019   2018  

  Sales   Cost   
Gross
Profit   Margin %   Sales   Cost   

Gross
Profit   Margin %  

EV parts  $110,675,908   91,421,805   19,254,103   17.4% $ 99,099,312   82,990,161   16,109,151   16.3%
EV products   108,640   86,909   21,731   20.0%  -   -   -   - 
Off-road vehicles   22,743,142   16,979,661   5,763,481   25.3%  13,339,516   9,201,222   4,138,294   31.0%
Electric Scooters and

Electric Self-Balancing
Scooters   2,213,646   1,822,052   391,594   17.7%  -   -   -   - 

Total  $135,741,336   110,310,427   25,430,909   18.7% $112,438,828   92,191,383   20,247,445   18.0%
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Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $ 25,430,909, as compared to $20,247,445 for the year ended December 31, 2018,
representing an increase of $ 5,183,464 or 25.6% from 2018. The increases were primarily attributable to the increased sales in 2019 as compared to
that in 2018. Our gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2019, was 18.7%, compared to 18.0% for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
increase in our gross margin as compared to 2018 was mainly due to due to the increased selling price of the charging and exchanging equipment and
the increased proportion of the high-margin battery processing business in 2019.
 
Research and Development
 
Research and development expenses, including materials, labor, equipment depreciation, design, testing, inspection, and other related expenses totaled
$6,207,747 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $10,084,378 for the year ended December 31, 2018, representing a decrease of
$3,876,631, or 38.4%, from 2018. This decrease was primarily due to the completion of R&D works related to the development of EV Model K23 at
Hainan facility in the third quarter of 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately 0% and 66.2% of our research and
development expenses were spent on the research and development of EV product model at Hainan facility, respectively.
 
Sales and Marketing
 
Selling and distribution expenses were $4,070,001 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $3,189,022 for the year ended December 31,
2018, representing an increase of $880,979, or 27.6% from 2018. This increase compare to 2018 was primarily attributable to the increasing labor and
advertising expenses in connection with the expansion the U.S. electric vehicle market of $ 2 million offset by the decreasing after sales service fee in
2019.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses were $14,243,625 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $8,612,393 for the year ended December
31, 2018, representing an increase of $5,631,232 or 65.4% from 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019, general and administrative expenses
included$1,360,258 as expenses for common stock awards and stock options to employees and Board members, compared to $285,609 for the years
ended December 31 2018, representing the result of $2,930,486 as expenses for common stock awards and stock options to employees and Board
members net of $2,644,877 of reversal of previously accrued stock option expenses for forfeited stock option. Excluding stock compensation expenses,
our net general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $ 12,883,367, an increase of $ 4,556,583, or 54.7%, compared
to $8,326,784 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase compared to 2018 was largely due to the increased operation costs of the Company
since Hainan facility has been put into production in the third quarter of 2018.
 
Interest Income
 
Interest income was $791,888 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $1,324,812 for the year ended December 31, 2018, representing a
decrease of $532,924, or 40.2%, from 2018. The decrease as compared to 2018 was primarily attributable to the decreased interest earned on loans to
the Affiliate Company since Kandi Vehicles’ loan to the Affiliate Company converted to equity in the second quarter of 2018.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense was $4,822,734 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $1,871,851 for the year ended December 31, 2018, representing
an increase of $2,950,883, or 157.6% from 2018. The increase compared to 2018 was primarily due to the interest expense of Hainan factory’s long-term
debt. Of the interest expenses, $0 and $145,411, respectively, were the discounts associated with the settlement of bank acceptance notes for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the loss related to changes in the fair value of contingent consideration was $1,107,427, representing a
decrease of $4,513,291 or 132.5% compared to the gain related to changes in the fair value of contingent consideration of $3,405,864 for the year ended
December 31, 2018, which was mainly due to the adjustment of the fair value of the contingent consideration liability associated with remaining shares of
restrictive common stock. (Please refer to NOTE 21 – CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION LIABILITY). The fair value of the contingent consideration
liability was estimated at each reporting date by using the Monte Carlo simulation method, which took into account all possible scenarios.
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Government Grants
 
Government grants totaled $792,628 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $17,787,445 for the year ended December 31, 2018,
representing a decrease of $16,994,817, or 95.5% from 2018. The decrease from 2018 was primarily due to the subsidies we received from the Hainan
provincial government to assist our development of K23 model, among which $15,368,774 was recognized as income in 2018, and we did not receive
such subsidies in connection with the development of K23 model during 2019.
 
Gain from equity dilution in the Affiliate Company
 
Gain from equity dilution was $4,263,764 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which was primarily due to gain from the March Affiliate Loan to Equity
Conversion. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the Affiliate Company converted a loan of RMB 314 million (approximately $45.7 million) from Geely
Group last year to equity in order to increase its cash flow. As a result, our equity interests in the Affiliate Company decreased to 43.47% in March, 2019.
 
Gain from equity sale in the Affiliate Company
 
Gain from equity sale was $20,438,986 for the year ended December 31, 2019, which was due to the Affiliate Equity Transfer. In March, 2019, Kandi
Vehicles agreed to sell 21.47% of its equity interests in the Affiliate Company to Geely for a total amount of RMB 516 million (approximately $72.3
million). As of September 30, 2019, the equity transfer had been completed. Therefore, in the third quarter of 2019, the Company has recognized the
gain from equity sale.
 
Share of Income (Loss) after Tax of the Affiliate Company
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, our share of loss after tax of the Affiliate Company was $30,716,938 compared to loss of $17,888,706 for year
ended December 31,2018. The increased losses incurred by the Affiliate Company were largely attributable to the Affiliate Company’s temporary
declining sales, which was caused by its product adjustments.
 
Other Income (Expense), Net
 
Net other income was $1,569,311 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to net other income of $956,839 for the year ended December 31,
2018, representing an increase of $612,472 from 2018. The increase from 2018 was primarily due to the reversal of accrued other payable, which has
been evaluated by management in 2019, which subsequently concluded that this accrued liability will not be incurred, offset by the fees earned on
technology development services in 2018.
 
Income Taxes
 
In accordance with the relevant Chinese tax laws and regulations, our applicable corporate income tax rate is 25%. However, Kandi Vehicles and Jinhua
An Kao are qualified as high technology companies in China and are therefore entitled to a reduced corporate income tax rate of 15%.
 
Each of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Kandi New Energy, Yongkang Scrou and Kandi Hainan, has an applicable corporate income tax rate of 25%.
 
We have a 22% ownership interest in the Affiliate Company, which has an applicable corporate income tax rate of 25%. Each of the Affiliate Company’s
subsidiaries has an applicable corporate income tax rate of 25% as well.
 
Our actual effective income tax rate for 2019 was a tax benefit of 8.78% on a reported loss before taxes of approximately $7.9 million, compared to a tax
expense of 374.30% on a reported income before taxes of approximately $2.1 million for 2018.
 
Net Income (Loss)
 
We recorded net loss of $7,188,727 for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to net loss of $5,694,699 for the year ended December 31, 2018,
an increase of net loss of $1,494,028 from the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase in net loss compared to 2018 was primarily attributable to
the increased operation cost and decreased government grants of Hainan facility.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 
Cash Flow
 
  Year Ended  

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31, 

2018  
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities  $ (29,886,272)  $ 13,587,621 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   31,252,624   (947,441)
 Net cash used in financing activities   (6,980,649)   (5,297,724)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash   (5,614,297)   7,342,456 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   (226,139)   (1,099,881)
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year   22,353,071   16,110,496 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year   16,512,635   22,353,071 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used in operating activities was $29,886,272, as compared to cash provided in operating activities was
$13,587,621 for the year ended December 31, 2018. Our operating cash inflows include cash received primarily from sales of our EV parts and off-road
vehicles. These cash inflows are offset largely by cash paid primarily to our suppliers for production materials and parts used in our manufacturing
process, operation expenses, employee compensation, and interest expenses of our financings. The major operating activities that provided cash for the
year ended December 31, 2019 were an increase of accounts payable of $10,440,338. The major operating activity that used cash for year ended
December 31, 2019 was an increase of accounts receivable of $40,123,966.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash provided in investing activities was $31,252,624, as compared to cash used from investing activities of
$947,441 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The major investing activities that provided cash for the year ended December 31, 2019 were an
increase of cash received from equity sale in the Affiliate Company of $ 31,850,822. The major investing activities that used cash for the year ended
December 31, 2019 were $526,336 used for the purchases of property, plant and equipment.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used in financing activities was $6,980,649, as compared to cash used in financing activities of $5,297,724
for the year ended December 31, 2018. The major financing activities that provided cash for the year ended December 31, 2019 were proceeds from
short-term bank loans of $34,746,352. The major financing activities that used cash for year ended December 31, 2019 were repayments of short-term
bank loans of $38,944,869. 
 
Working Capital
 
We had a working capital of $ 63,698,697 at December 31, 2019, an increase of $ 61,171,786 from a working capital of $2,526,911 as of December 31,
2018.
 
After two years of negotiation, on March 9, 2020, a real estate repurchase agreement was entered into by and between between Kandi Vehicles and
Jinhua Economic and Technological Development Zone that will enable Kandi Vehicles to optimize its production efficiency, lower operating costs, and
generate a substantial cash inflow of RMB 525 million (USD 75.6 million) and will get no less than RMB 500 million (USD 71.9 million) subsidies based on
Kandi Vehicle’s financial contribution to the local department of finance within the next eight years by monetizing one of its largest assets.
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Contractual Obligations and Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
 
Short-term and long-term Loans:
 
For the discussion of guarantees for bank loans, please refer to Note 17 - Short-term and long-term Loans under Item 8 Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
 
Notes payable:
 
For the discussion of guarantees for bank loans, please refer to Note 18 - Notes payable under Item 8 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Guarantees and pledged collateral for third party bank loans
 
For the discussion of guarantees for bank loans, please refer to Note 24 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES under Item 8 Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Related Estimates That Could Have a Material Effect on Our Consolidated Financial Statements
 
This section should be read together with the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the attached consolidated financial statements included in
this Annual Report.
 
Estimates affecting accounts receivable and inventories
 
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect our reporting of assets and
liabilities (and contingent assets and liabilities). These estimates are particularly significant where they affect the reported net realizable value of our
accounts receivable and inventories.
 
Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for periods in which the Company
determines a loss is probable, based on its assessment of specific factors, such as troubled collections, historical experience, accounts aging, ongoing
business relations and other factors. Accounts are written off after exhaustive collection efforts. If accounts receivable are to be provided for, or written
off, they are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations within the operating expenses line item. If accounts receivable previously written off
is recovered in a later period or when facts subsequently become available to indicate that the amount provided as an allowance for doubtful accounts
was incorrect, an adjustment is made to restate allowance for doubtful accounts.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, credit terms with the Company’s customers were typically 180 to 360 days after delivery. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a $254,665 and $120,010 allowance for doubtful accounts, as per the Company management’s
judgment based on their best knowledge. The Company conducts quarterly assessments of the state of the Company’s outstanding receivables and
reserves any allowance for doubtful accounts if it becomes necessary
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (market value). The cost of raw materials is determined on the basis of weighted
average. The cost of finished goods is determined on the basis of weighted average and comprises direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate
proportion of overhead. Net realizable value is based on estimated selling prices less selling expenses and any further costs expected to be incurred for
completion. Adjustments to reduce the cost of inventory to net realizable value are made, if required, for estimated excess, obsolescence, or impaired
balances.
 
Although we believe that there is little likelihood that actual results will differ materially from our current estimates, if customer demand for our products
decreases significantly in the near future, or if the financial condition of our customers deteriorates in the near future, we could realize significant write
downs for slow-moving inventories or uncollectible accounts receivable.
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Policy affecting recognition of revenue
 
Our revenue recognition policy plays a key role in our consolidated financial statements.
 
The Company adopted ASC Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers with a date of the initial application of January 1, 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. As a result, the Company has changed its accounting policy for revenue recognition. The impact of the adoption of ASC
Topic 606 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements is not material.
 
The Company recognizes revenue when goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration which it expects to
receive in exchange for those goods or services. In determining when and how revenue is recognized from contracts with customers, the Company
performs the following five-step analysis: (i) identification of contract with customer; (ii) determination of performance obligations; (iii) measurement of the
transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when (or as) the Company
satisfies each performance obligation.
 
The Company generates revenue through EV parts and off-road vehicles. The revenue is recognized at a point in time once the Company has
determined that the customer has obtained control over the product. Control is typically deemed to have been transferred to the customer when the
performance obligation is fulfilled, usually at the time of delivery, at the net sales price (transaction price). Revenue is recognized net of any taxes
collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. Shipping and handling costs for product shipments occur prior to
the customer obtaining control of the goods are accounted for as fulfillment costs rather than separate performance obligations and recorded as sales
and marketing expenses.
 
Policy affecting leases 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 using the effective date approach. The Company elected to adopt both the transition relief
provided in ASU 2018-11 and the package of practical expedients which allowed us, among other things, to retain historical lease classifications and
accounting for any leases that existed prior to adoption of the standard. Additionally, the management elected the practical expedients allowing the
Company not to separate lease and non-lease components and not record leases with an initial term of twelve months or less (“short-term leases”) on the
balance sheet across all existing asset classes. Per ASU 2018-01, the management elected the practical expedient that permits the Company to
continue applying our current policy of accounting for land use rights that existed as of, or expired before, the effective date of ASC 842. We have applied
this policy to all of our existing land use rights that were not previously accounted for under ASC 840.
 
Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recording of operating lease assets (grouped in other long term assets of balance sheet) of $10,743and
operating lease liabilities (grouped in other current liability of balance sheet)of $11,509, respectively, as of December 31, 2019 based on the present
value of the lease payments for the remaining lease term of the Company’s existing leases. The assets and liabilities recognized upon application of the
transition provisions were primarily associated to the corporate office leases for SC Autosports. The standard did not materially impact the condensed
consolidated statements of operations or cash flows. Adopting the new standard did not have a material impact on the accounting for leases under which
the Company is the lessee.
 
Policy affecting options, warrants and convertible notes
 
Our stock option cost is recorded in accordance with ASC 718 and ASC 505. The fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton
model. Our expected volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility of our stock. The expected life assumption is primarily based on the
expiration date of the option. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time
of grant. Stock option expense recognition is based on awards expected to vest. There were no estimated forfeitures. ASC standards require forfeitures
to be estimated at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods, if necessary, if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
The stock-based option expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $0, $1,586,926 net of a reversal for forfeited stock options of
$2,644,877, respectively. There were no forfeitures estimated during the reporting period.
 
Our warrant costs are recorded in liabilities and equities, respectively, in accordance with ASC 480, ASC 505 and ASC 815. The fair value of a warrant,
which is classified as a liability, is estimated using the Binomial Tree model and the lattice valuation model. Our expected volatility assumption is based
on the historical volatility of our common stock. The expected life assumption is primarily based on the expiration date of the warrant. The risk-free
interest rate for the expected term of the warrant is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of measurement. Our warrants, which are
freestanding derivatives classified as liabilities on the balance sheet, are measured at fair value on each reporting date, with decreases in fair value
recognized in earnings and increases in fair values recognized in expenses.
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The fair value of equity-based warrants, which are not considered derivatives under ASC 815, is estimated using the Black-Scholes -Merton model. Our
expected volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility of our common stock. The expected life assumption is primarily based on the expiration
date of the warrant. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
 
In accordance with ASC 815, the conversion feature of the convertible notes is separated from the debt instrument and accounted for separately as a
derivative instrument. On the date the convertible notes are issued, the conversion feature is recorded as a liability at its fair value, and future decreases
in fair value are recognized in earnings while increases in fair values are recognized in expenses. We used the Black-Scholes -Merton option-pricing
model to obtain the fair value of the conversion feature. The expected volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility of our common stock. The
expected life assumption is primarily based on the expiration date of the conversion features. The risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the
conversion features is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of measurement.
 
Warranty Liability
 
Most of our non-EV products (“Legacy Products”) are exported out of China to foreign countries that have legal and regulatory requirements with which
we are not familiar. The development of warranty policies for our Legacy Products in each of these countries would be virtually impossible and
prohibitively expensive. Therefore, we provide price incentives and free parts to our customers and in exchange, our customers establish appropriate
warranty policies and assume warranty responsibilities.
 
Consequently, warranty issues are taken into consideration during price negotiations for our products. Free parts are delivered along with the products,
and when products are sold, the related parts are recorded as cost of goods sold. Due to the reliability of our products, we have been able to maintain this
warranty policy and we have not had any product liability attributed to our products.
 
For the EV products that we sell in China, we provide a three year or 50,000 kilometer manufacturer warranty. This warranty affects the Company through
our participation and investment in the Affiliate Company, which manufactures the EV products.
 
U.S. Corporate Income Tax
 
On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the
Tax Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the Tax Act enactment date for companies to complete
the accounting under ASC 740. In accordance with SAB 118, a company must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for which the
accounting under ASC 740 is complete. To the extent that a company’s accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act is incomplete but it is
able to determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in its financial statements. If a company cannot determine a provisional
estimate to be included in its financial statements, it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect
immediately before the enactment of the Tax Act.
 
Pursuant to the disclosure provision of SAB 118, the Company has completed and recorded provisional amounts for the income tax effects of the TCJA
for the year ended December 31st, 2019.
 
Based on Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) staff Q&A Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI), the
FASB staff noted that the Company must make an accounting policy election to either (1) recognize taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income
related to GILTI as a current-period expense when incurred (the “period cost method”) or (2) factor such amount into the Company’s measure of its
deferred taxes (the “deferred method”). The Company elected to treat the guilty as a current-period expense when incurred.
 
 Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 
This item is not applicable to us.
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 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Kandi Technologies Group, Inc
 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Kandi Technologies Group, Inc (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 ,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 2013 and our report dated April 28, 2020, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP
 
Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
 
New York, New York
April 28, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

 
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Kandi Technologies Group, Inc
 
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
We have audited Kandi Technologies Group, Inc’s (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
 
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in
stockholders’ equity and cash flows and the related notes for the year ended December 31, 2019 of the Company, and our report dated April 28, 2020
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting”. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of the inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
/s/ Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP
 
Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP
New York, New York
April 28, 2020
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 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kandi Technologies Group, Inc.
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kandi Technologies Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018, and
the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2018, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31,
2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
/s/ BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP
BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP
Shanghai, The People’s Republic of China
March 15, 2019
 
We began serving as the Company’s auditor in 2016. In October 2019, we became the predecessor auditor.
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 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

  
December 31, 

2019   
December 31, 

2018  
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5,490,557  $ 15,662,201 
Restricted cash   11,022,078   6,690,870 
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $254,665 and $120,010 as of December 31, 2019

and December 31, 2018, respectively)   61,181,849   34,274,728 
Inventories   27,736,566   21,997,868 
Notes receivable   42,487,225   72,712 
Notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and related party   -   3,861,032 
Prepayments and prepaid expense   10,615,063   11,136,408 
Amount due from the Affiliate Company, net   31,330,763   67,683,462 
Other current assets   5,708,335   5,970,507 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   195,572,436   167,349,788 
         
LONG-TERM ASSETS         
Property, plant and equipment, net   74,407,858   82,045,923 
Intangible assets   3,654,772   4,328,127 
Land use rights, net   11,272,815   11,749,728 
Investment in the Affiliate Company   47,228,614   128,929,893 
Goodwill   28,270,400   28,552,215 
Other long term assets   10,811,501   5,873,590 
TOTAL Long-Term Assets   175,645,960   261,479,476 
         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 371,218,396  $ 428,829,264 

         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Accounts payable  $ 72,093,940  $ 112,309,683 
Other payables and accrued expenses   6,078,041   4,251,487 
Short-term loans   25,980,364   30,539,236 
Notes payable   10,765,344   12,787,619 
Income tax payable   1,796,601   3,471,366 
Long term bank loans - current portion   13,779,641   - 
Other current liabilities   1,379,808   1,463,486 
Total Current Liabilities   131,873,739   164,822,877 
         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES         
Long term bank loans   14,353,792   28,794,136 
Deferred taxes liability   1,362,786   1,711,343 
Contingent consideration liability   5,197,000   7,256,000 
Other long-term liability   574,152   622,034 
Total Long-Term Liabilities   21,487,730   38,383,513 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES   153,361,469   203,206,390 

         
STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY         
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;  56,263,102 and 55,992,002 shares issued and

52,839,441 and 51,484,444 outstanding at December 31,2019 and December 31,2018, respectively   52,839   51,484 
Less: Treasury stock (487,155 shares with average price of $5.09 and 0 shares at December 31,2019 and

December 31,2018, respectively )   (2,477,965)   - 
Additional paid-in capital   259,691,370   254,989,657 
Accumulated deficit (the restricted portion is $4,422,033 and $4,422,033 at December 31, 2019 and December

31,2018, respectively)   (16,685,736)   (9,497,009)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (22,723,581)   (19,921,258)
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   217,856,927   225,622,874 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 371,218,396  $ 428,829,264 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
 

  Year Ended  

  
December 31, 

2019   
December 31,

2018  
       
REVENUES FROM UNRELATED PARTY, NET  $ 119,879,895  $ 63,707,518 
REVENUES FROM THE AFFILIATE COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY, NET   15,861,441   48,731,310 
         
REVENUES, NET   135,741,336   112,438,828 
         
COST OF GOODS SOLD   (110,310,427)   (92,191,383)
         
GROSS PROFIT   25,430,909   20,247,445 
         
OPERATING EXPENSES:         
Research and development   (6,207,747)   (10,084,378)
Selling and marketing   (4,070,001)   (3,189,022)
General and administrative   (14,243,625)   (8,612,393)
Total Operating Expenses   (24,521,373)   (21,885,793)
         
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS   909,536   (1,638,348)
         
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):         
Interest income   791,888   1,324,812 
Interest expense   (4,822,734)   (1,871,851)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   (1,107,427)   3,405,864 
Government grants   792,628   17,787,445 
Gain from equity dilution in the Affiliate Company   4,263,764   - 
Gain from equity sale in the Affiliate Company   20,438,986   - 
Share of loss after tax of the Affiliate Company   (30,716,938)   (17,888,706)
Other income, net   1,569,311   956,839 
Total other (expense) income, net   (8,790,522)   3,714,403 
         
(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES   (7,880,986)   2,076,055 
         
INCOME TAX BENEFIT (EXPENSE)   692,259   (7,770,754)
         
NET LOSS   (7,188,727)   (5,694,699)

         
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS         
Foreign currency translation   (2,802,323)   (13,610,495)
         
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

 $ (9,991,050)  $ (19,305,194)

         
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING BASIC   52,337,308   51,188,647 
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING DILUTED   52,337,308   51,188,647 
         
NET LOSS PER SHARE, BASIC  $ (0.14)  $ (0.11)
NET LOSS PER SHARE, DILUTED  $ (0.14)  $ (0.11)
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
 

  

Number of 
Outstanding

Shares   
Common 

Stock   
Treasury 

Stock   

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital   

Accumulated
Earning 
(Deficit)   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income   Total  

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2017   48,036,538  $ 48,037  $ -  $233,055,348  $ (3,802,310)  $ (6,310,763)  $222,990,312 
Stock issuance and award   3,447,906   3,447   -   21,934,309   -   -   21,937,756 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   (5,694,699)   -   (5,694,699)
Foreign currency translation   -   -   -   -   -   (13,610,495)   (13,610,495)
                             
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2018   51,484,444  $ 51,484  $ -  $254,989,657  $ (9,497,009)  $ (19,921,258)  $225,622,874 
Stock issuance and award   1,354,997   1,355   -   4,716,328   -   -   4,717,683 
Stock buyback   -   -   (2,477,965)   -   -   -   (2,477,965)
Commission in stock buyback   -   -   -   (14,615)   -   -   (14,615)
Net loss   -   -   -   -   (7,188,727)   -   (7,188,727)
Foreign currency translation   -   -   -   -   -   (2,802,323)   (2,802,323)
                             
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019   52,839,441  $ 52,839  $(2,477,965)  $259,691,370  $ (16,685,736)  $ (22,723,581)  $217,856,927 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
 

  Year Ended  

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31,

2018  
       
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:       
Net loss  $ (7,188,727)  $ (5,694,699)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities         
Depreciation and amortization   8,202,869   4,326,296 
Impairments   398,790   263,185 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   137,387   (213,809)
Deferred taxes   (1,066,536)   4,815,774 
Share of loss after tax of the Affiliate Company   30,716,938   17,888,706 
Gain from equity dilution in the Affiliate Company   (4,263,764)   - 
Gain from equity sale in the Affiliate Company   (20,438,986)   - 
Reserve for fixed assets   -   (52,744)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration   1,107,427   (3,405,864)
Stock compensation cost   1,360,258   285,609 
         
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
(Increase) Decrease In:         
Accounts receivable   (40,123,966)   (57,503,289)
Deferred taxes assets   -   375 
Notes receivable   246,120   483,778 
Notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and related party   434,329   6,231,669 
Inventories   (6,458,104)   (5,243,388)
Other receivables and other assets   (8,200,714)   (31,373,831)
Due from employee   (8,217)   1,045 
Advances to supplier and prepayments and prepaid expenses   4,379,925   (5,386,448)
Amount due from the Affiliate Company   8,803,542   (95,442,739)
Amount due from Affiliate Company-Longterm   -   15,907,183 
Due from related party   -   159,405 
         
Increase (Decrease) In:         
Accounts payable   10,440,338   137,390,139 
Other payables and accrued liabilities   6,069,133   60,736,669 
Notes payable   (12,743,628)   (30,542,040)
Customer deposits   (26,166)   (104,047)
Income tax payable   (1,619,659)   822,422 
Deferred income   (44,861)   (761,736)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

 $ (29,886,272)  $ 13,587,621 
         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, net   (526,336)   (582,872)
Purchases of land use rights and other intangible assets   -   (103,871)
Acquisition of Jinhua An Kao (net of cash received)   -   (3,555,766)
Acquisition of SC Autosports   -   486,954 
Purchases of construction in progress   (71,862)   (418,755)
Reimbursement of capitalize interests for construction in progress   -   1,790,652 
Cash received from equity sale in the Affiliate Company   31,850,822   - 
Long Term Investment   -   1,436,217 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  $ 31,252,624  $ (947,441)
         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         

Proceeds from short-term bank loans   34,746,352   32,503,855 
Repayments of short-term bank loans   (38,944,869)   (33,259,759)
Repayments of long-term bank loans   (289,553)   (302,361)
Proceeds from notes payable   -   54,348,577 
Repayment of notes payable   -   (58,588,036)

Stock buyback with commission   (2,492,579)   - 
Net cash used in financing activities  $ (6,980,649)  $ (5,297,724)

         
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH   (5,614,297)   7,342,456 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   (226,139)   (1,099,881)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR   22,353,071   16,110,496 
         
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD   16,512,635   22,353,071 
-CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD   5,490,557   15,662,201 
-RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD   11,022,078   6,690,870 
         
SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION         
Income taxes paid   1,994,526   2,056,670 
Interest paid   1,738,656   1,708,766 



         
SUPPLEMENTAL NON-CASH DISCLOSURES:         
Acquisition of Jinhua An Kao by stock   -   20,718,859 
Acquisition of SC Autosports by stock   -   756,664 
Amount due from the Affiliate Company converted to investment in the Affiliate Company   -   82,393,493 
Notes receivable from unrelated parties for equity transfer payment   42,853,834   - 
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
 
Kandi Technologies Group, Inc. (“Kandi Technologies”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on March 31, 2004. As used herein,
the terms “Company” or “Kandi” refer to Kandi Technologies and its operating subsidiaries, as described below.
 
Headquartered in Jinhua City, Zhejiang Province, People’s Republic of China (“China”), the Company is one of China’s leading producers and
manufacturers of electric vehicle (“EV”) products (through the Affiliate Company, formerly defined as the JV Company), EV parts, and off-road vehicles
for sale in the Chinese and the global markets. The Company conducts its primary business operations through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Zhejiang
Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Kandi Vehicles”), Kandi Vehicles’ wholly and partially-owned subsidiaries, and SC Autosports LLC (“SC Autosports”).
 
The Company’s organizational chart as of the date of this report is as follows:
 

 
Operating Subsidiaries
 
Pursuant to certain VIE (as defined below in this report) agreements that were executed in January 2011, Kandi Vehicles is entitled to 100% of the
economic benefits, voting rights and residual interests (100% of profits and losses) of Jinhua Kandi New Energy Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Kandi New Energy”).
Kandi New Energy currently holds battery pack production licensing rights, and supplies battery packs to the Affiliate Company (as such term is defined
below).
 
In April 2012, pursuant to an agreement with the shareholders of YongkangScrou Electric Co, Ltd. (“YongkangScrou”), the Company acquired 100% of
YongkangScrou, a manufacturer of automobile and EV parts. YongkangScrou currently manufactures and sells EV drive motors, EV controllers, air
conditioners and other electric products to the Affiliate Company.
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In March 2013, pursuant to a joint venture agreement (the “JV Agreement”) entered into by Kandi Vehicles and Shanghai Maple Guorun Automobile Co.,
Ltd. (“Shanghai Guorun”), a 99%-owned subsidiary of Geely Automobile Holdings Ltd., the parties established Fengsheng Automotive Technology
GroupCo., Ltd. (the “Affiliate Company”, formerly known as Zhejiang Kandi Electric Vehicles Co., Ltd. and defined as the “JV Company”) to develop,
manufacture and sell EV products and related auto parts. In March 2014, the Affiliate Company changed its name to Kandi Electric Vehicles Group Co.,
Ltd. On March 21, 2019, Kandi Vehicles signed an Equity Transfer Agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) with Geely Technologies Group Co., Ltd.
(“Geely”) to transfer certain equity interests in the Kandi Electric Vehicles Group Co., Ltd. (the “Affiliate Company”, formerly defined as the “JV
Company”) to Geely. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the Affiliate Company converted a loan of RMB 314 million (approximately $45.1 million) from
Geely last year to equity in order to increase its cash flow. As a result, the registered capital of the Affiliate Company became RMB 2.40 billion
(approximately $344.5 million), of which Kandi Vehicles then owned 43.47% and Geely owned 56.53%, respectively, upon the conversion of the loan into
equity in the Affiliate Company. After that, Kandi Vehicles further agreed to sell 21.47% of its equity interests in the Affiliate Company to Geely for a total
amount of RMB 516 million (approximately $74.1 million). As of September 29, 2019, Kandi Vehicles has received payments in cash totaling RMB 220
million (approximately $31.6 million) and certain commercial acceptance notes of RMB 296 million (approximately $42.5 million). As a result of the
completion of the equity transfer on September 29, 2019, Kandi Vehicles now owns 22% and Geely and its affiliates own 78% of the equity interests of
the Affiliate Company. As now the Company only owns 22% of the Affiliate Company, it was redefined as the Affiliate Company. In October 2019, the
Affiliate Company was renamed Fengsheng Vehicles Technologies Group Co., Ltd.
 
In April 2013, Kandi Vehicles and Kandi New Energy formed Kandi Electric Vehicles (Wanning) Co., Ltd., which was renamed Kandi Electric Vehicles
(Hainan) Co., Ltd. (“Kandi Hainan”), when it was relocated from Wanning City to Haikou City in January 2016. Kandi Vehicles has a 90% ownership
interest in Kandi Hainan, and Kandi New Energy has the remaining 10% ownership interest. Kandi Vehicles is, effectively, entitled to 100% of the
economic benefits, voting rights and residual interests (100% of the profits and losses) of Kandi Hainan as Kandi Vehicles is entitled to 100% of the
economic benefits, voting rights and residual interests of Kandi New Energy.
 
In December 2017, Kandi Vehicles and the sole shareholder of Jinhua An Kao Power Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jinhua An Kao”) entered into a Share
Transfer Agreement and a Supplementary Agreement, pursuant to which Kandi Vehicles acquired Jinhua An Kao. The two agreements were signed on
December 12, 2017 and the closing took place on January 3, 2018. Kandi Vehicles acquired 100% of the equity interests of Jinhua An Kao for a
purchase price of approximately RMB 25.93 million (approximately $4 million) in cash. In addition, pursuant to the Supplementary Agreement, the
Company issued a total of 2,959,837 shares of restrictive stock, or 6.2% of the Company’s total outstanding shares of the common stock to the
shareholder of Jinhua An Kao, and may be required to pay future consideration of an additional 2,959,837 shares of common stock, which are being held
in escrow, to be released upon the achievement of certain net income-based milestones in the next three years. As of the date of this report, 739,959
shares have been released from the escrow for Jinhua An Kao’s achieving of the year 2018 net profit target. 986,810 shares are expected to be released
for its achieving of the year 2019 net profit target. The Supplementary Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of the issuance of these shares,
including a provision that gives the Company the voting rights of the make good shares until conditions for vesting such shares are satisfied.
 
On May 31, 2018, the Company entered into a Membership Interests Transfer Agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) with the two members of SC
Autosports LLC (“SC Autosports”) (formerly known as: Sportsman Country, LLC) pursuant to which the Company acquired 100% of the ownership of SC
Autosports. SC Autosports is a Dallas-based sales company primarily engaged in the wholesale of off-road vehicle products, with a small percentage of
business in wholesale and retail of off-road vehicle parts. According to the terms of the Transfer Agreement, the Company transferred $10.0 million worth
of restricted shares to acquire 100% of the membership interests of SC Autosports, of which the Company was required to issue $1.0 million of
corresponding restricted shares within 30 days of the signing date of the Transfer Agreement, and the remaining $9.0 million of corresponding restricted
shares to be released from escrow based on SC Autosports’pre-tax profit performance over the course of the following three years. The transaction
closed in July 2018. As of the date of this report, 343,938 shares have been released from the escrow for SC Autosports’ achieving of the year 2018 net
profit target. 515,907 shares are expected to be released for its achieving of the year 2019 net profit target.
 
On March 4, 2019, in order to build a logistics network composed of suppliers, manufacturers, warehouses, distribution centers and channel providers,
meeting the needs of improving production and operation efficiency, the Company participated in the formation of Zhejiang Kandi Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (“Supply Chain Company”). Kandi Vehicles has a 10% ownership interest in Supply Chain Company, the remaining 90% is owned
by unrelated other parties. As of the date of this report, Kandi Vehicle has not made any capital contribution to Supply Chain Company and is not
involved in its operations.
The Company’s primary business operations consist of designing, developing, manufacturing and commercializing EV products (through Kandi Electric
Vehicles (Hainan) Co., Ltd. and the Affiliate Company), EV parts and off-road vehicles. As part of its strategic objective of becoming a leading
manufacturer of EV products (through the Affiliate Company) and related services, the Company has increased its focus on pure EV-related products,
and is actively pursuing expansion in the Chinese and international markets, especially the U.S. market.
 
NOTE 2 - LIQUIDITY
 
The Company had a working capital of $63,698,697 as of December 31, 2019, an increase of $ 61,171,786 from a working capital of $2,526,911 as of
December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $5,490,557 and $ 15,662,201,
respectively, the Company’s restricted cash was $11,022,078 and $6,690,870, respectively.
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After two years of negotiation, on March 9, 2020, a real estate repurchase agreement was entered into by and between between Kandi Vehicles and
Jinhua Economic and Technological Development Zone that will enable Kandi Vehicles to optimize its production efficiency, lower operating costs, and
generate a substantial cash inflow of RMB 525 million (USD 75.6 million) and will get no less than RMB 500 million (USD 71.9 million) subsidies based on
Kandi Vehicle’s financial contribution to the local department of finance within the next eight years by monetizing one of its largest assets. The Company
plans to apply the proceeds from the real estate repurchase agreement to its ongoing operations. Although the Company expects that most of its
outstanding trade receivables from customers will be collected in the next twelve months, there are uncertainties with respect to the timing in collecting
these receivables, especially the receivables due from the Affiliate Company, because most of them are indirectly impacted by the progress of the receipt
of government subsidies.
  
The Company’s primary need for liquidity stems from its need to fund working capital requirements of the Company’s businesses, its capital expenditures
and its general operations, including debt repayment. The Company has historically financed its operations through short-term commercial bank loans
from Chinese banks, as well as its ongoing operating activities by using funds from operations, external credit or financing arrangements. The Company
routinely monitors current and expected operational requirements and financial market conditions to evaluate the use of available financing sources.
Considering the existing working capital position and the ability to access debt funding sources, the management believes that the Company’s operations
and borrowing resources are sufficient to provide for its current and foreseeable capital requirements to support its ongoing operations for the next twelve
months. 
 
NOTE 3 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
 
The Company’s financial statements and notes are the representations of the Company’s management. Accounting policies adopted by the Company
conform to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and have been consistently applied in the Company’s presentation of its
financial statements.
 
NOTE 4 - PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company and its ownership interests in the following subsidiaries:
 
(1) Continental Development Limited (“Continental”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong;
 
(2) Kandi Vehicles, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Continental;
 
(3) Kandi New Energy, a 50%-owned subsidiary of Kandi Vehicles (Mr. Hu Xiaoming owns the other 50%). Pursuant to agreements executed in January

2011, Mr. Hu Xiaoming contracted with Kandi Vehicles for the operation and management of Kandi New Energy and put his shares of Kandi New
Energy into escrow. As a result, Kandi Vehicles is entitled to 100% of the economic benefits, voting rights and residual interests of Kandi New
Energy;

 
(4) YongkangScrou, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kandi Vehicles;
 
(5) Kandi Hainan, a subsidiary, 10% owned by Kandi New Energy and 90% owned by Kandi Vehicles; and
 
(6) Jinhua An Kao, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kandi Vehicles.
 
(7) SC Autosports, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
 
Equity Method Investees
 
The Company’s consolidated net income also includes the Company’s proportionate share of the net income or loss of its equity method investees as
follows:
 
The Affiliate Company, a 22% owned subsidiary of Kandi Vehicles and its subsidiaries
 
All intra-entity profits and losses with regard to the Company’s equity method investees have been eliminated.
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NOTE 5 - USE OF ESTIMATES
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires the Company’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Management makes these estimates using the best information available at the time the estimates are made; however actual results when ultimately
realized could differ from those estimates.
 
NOTE 6 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
(a) Economic and Political Risks
 
The Company’s operations are conducted in China. As a result, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations may be influenced
by the political, economic and legal environments in China, and by the general state of the Chinese economy. In addition, the Company’s earnings are
subject to movements in foreign currency exchange rates when transactions are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional
currency. Accordingly, the Company’s operating results are affected by changes in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the RMB.
 
The Company’s operations in China are subject to special considerations and significant risks not typically associated with companies in North America
and Western Europe. These include risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and legal environment and foreign currency exchange
restrictions. The Company’s performance may be adversely affected by changes in the political and social conditions in China, and by changes in
governmental policies with respect to laws and regulations, anti-inflationary measures, currency conversion, remittances abroad, and rates and methods
of taxation, among other things.
 
(b) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into
three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market.
 
These tiers include:
 
Level 1—defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
 
Level 2—defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and
 
Level 3—defined as unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.
 
The Company’s financial instruments primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, other
receivables, accounts payable, other payables and accrued liabilities, short-term bank loans, notes payable, and warrants.
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, other receivables, accounts payable, other
payables and accrued liabilities, and notes payable approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these items. The estimated fair values of
short-term bank loans were not materially different from their carrying value as presented due to the brief maturities and because the interest rates on
these borrowings approximate those that would have been available for loans of similar remaining maturities and risk profiles. As the carrying amounts
are reasonable estimates of fair value, these financial instruments are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company identified notes
payable as Level 2 instruments due to the fact that the inputs to valuation are primarily based upon readily observable pricing information. The balance of
notes payable, which were measured and disclosed at fair value, was $10,765,344 and $12,787,619 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively.
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Contingent consideration related to the acquisitions of Jinhua An Kao and SC Autosports, which is accounted for as liabilities, are measured at each
reporting date for their fair value using Level 3 inputs. The fair value of contingent consideration was $5,197,000 and $7,256,000 at December 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. Also see Note 21.
 
(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers highly-liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company’s restricted cash was $11,022,078 and $6,690,870, respectively.
 
(d) Inventories
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (market value). The cost of raw materials is determined on the basis of weighted
average. The cost of finished goods is determined on the basis of weighted average and comprises direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate
proportion of overhead.
 
Net realizable value is based on estimated selling prices less selling expenses and any further costs expected to be incurred for completion. Adjustments
to reduce the cost of inventory to net realizable value are made, if required, for estimated excess, obsolescence, or impaired balances.
 
(e) Accounts Receivable and Due from the Affiliate Company and Related Parties
 
Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for periods in which the Company
determines a loss is probable, based on its assessment of specific factors, such as troubled collections, historical experience, accounts aging, ongoing
business relations and other factors. Accounts are written off after exhaustive collection efforts. If accounts receivable are to be provided for, or written
off, they are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations within the operating expenses line item. If accounts receivable previously written off
is recovered in a later period or when facts subsequently become available to indicate that the amount provided as an allowance for doubtful accounts
was incorrect, an adjustment is made to restate allowance for doubtful accounts.
 
Net amount due from the Affiliate Company represent net trade receivable from the Affiliate Company, loan lending to the Affiliate Company as well as
interest related to such loan. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s net amount due from the Affiliate Company includes $29.3 million net trade
receivable and $2 million loan interest.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, credit terms with the Company’s customers were typically 180 to 360 days after delivery. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a $254,665 and $120,010 allowance for doubtful accounts, as per the Company management’s
judgment based on their best knowledge. The Company conducts quarterly assessments of the state of the Company’s outstanding receivables and
reserves any allowance for doubtful accounts if it becomes necessary.
 
(f) Notes Receivable
 
Notes receivable represent short-term loans to third parties with maximum terms of six months. Interest income is recognized according to each
agreement between a borrower and the Company on an accrual basis. For notes receivable with banks, the interest rates are determined by banks. For
notes receivable with other parties, the interest rates are based on agreements between the parties. If notes receivable are paid back, that transaction
will be recognized in the relevant year. If notes receivable are not paid back, or are written off, that transaction will be recognized in the relevant year if
default is probable, reasonably assured, and the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company will recognize income if the written-off loan is
recovered at a future date. In case of any foreclosure proceedings or legal actions, the Company provides an accrual for the related foreclosure and
litigation expenses. The Company also receives notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and other parties to settle accounts receivable. If the
Company decides to discount notes receivable for the purpose of receiving immediate cash, the current discount rate is approximately in the range of
3.50% to 4.50% annually. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had notes receivable from unrelated parties of $42,487,225 and $72,712,
respectively, which notes receivable typically mature within six months. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s notes receivable from unrelated
parties was commercial acceptance notes from Geely related to equity transfer of the Affiliate company. Approximately $15.8 million of this amount was
subsequently collected in 2020 and affected by the coronavirus, collection of remaining amount was agreed to be extended, which will be consider as
other receivable in 2020. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and other related parties of
$0 and $3,861,032, respectively, which notes receivable typically mature within six months.
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(g) Property, Plants and Equipment
 
Property, Plants and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated over the asset’s estimated useful life, using
the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the asset or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. Estimated useful
lives are as follows:
 
Buildings  30 years
Machinery and equipment  10 years
Office equipment  5 years
Motor vehicles  5 years
Molds  5 years
 
The costs and related accumulated depreciation of assets sold or otherwise retired are eliminated from the Company’s accounts and any gain or loss is
included in the statements of income. The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to expenses as incurred, whereas significant renewals and
betterments are capitalized.
 
(h) Land Use Rights
 
Land in China is owned by the government and land ownership rights cannot be sold to an individual or to a private company. However, the Chinese
government grants the user a “land use right” to use the land. The land use rights granted to the Company are amortized using the straight-line method
over a term of fifty years.
 
(i) Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used, including intangible assets subject to amortization, when
events and circumstances warrant such a review, pursuant to the guidelines established in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No.
144 (now known as “ASC 360”). The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such
asset is separately identifiable and is less than its carrying value. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value
exceeds the fair market value of the long-lived asset. Fair market value is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate
commensurate with the risk involved. Losses on long-lived assets to be disposed of are determined in a similar manner, except that fair market values
are reduced for disposal costs.
 
The Company recognized no impairment loss for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
  
(j) Revenue Recognition
 
The Company adopted ASC Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers with a date of the initial application of January 1, 2018 using the
modified retrospective method. As a result, the Company has changed its accounting policy for revenue recognition. The impact of the adoption of ASC
Topic 606 on the Company’s consolidated financial statements is not material.
 
The Company recognizes revenue when goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration which it expects to
receive in exchange for those goods or services. In determining when and how revenue is recognized from contracts with customers, the Company
performs the following five-step analysis: (i) identification of contract with customer; (ii) determination of performance obligations; (iii) measurement of the
transaction price; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when (or as) the Company
satisfies each performance obligation.
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The Company generates revenue through EV parts and off-road vehicles. The revenue is recognized at a point in time once the Company has
determined that the customer has obtained control over the product. Control is typically deemed to have been transferred to the customer when the
performance obligation is fulfilled, usually at the time of delivery, at the net sales price (transaction price). Revenue is recognized net of any taxes
collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities. Shipping and handling costs for product shipments occur prior to
the customer obtaining control of the goods are accounted for as fulfillment costs rather than separate performance obligations and recorded as sales
and marketing expenses.
 
See Note 25 “Segment Reporting” for disaggregation of revenue by reporting segments. The Company believes this disaggregation best depicts how the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.
 
(k) Research and Development
 
Expenditures relating to the development of new products and processes, including improvements to existing products, are expensed as incurred.
Research and development expenses were $6,207,747 and $10,084,378 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
  
(l) Government Grants
 
Grants and subsidies received from the Chinese government are recognized when the proceeds are received or collectible and related milestones have
been reached and all contingencies have been resolved.
 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, $792,628 and $17,787,445, respectively, were received by the Company’s subsidiaries from the
Chinese government.
 
(m) Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income tax using an asset and liability approach, which allows for the recognition of deferred tax benefits in future years.
Under the asset and liability approach, deferred income taxes are recognized for differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities at enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.. The accounting for deferred tax calculation
represents the Company management’s best estimate of the most likely future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial
statements or tax returns and related future anticipation. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that is more
likely than not to be realized after considering all available evidence, both positive and negative.
 
(n) Foreign Currency Translation
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars. The functional currency of the Company is the Renminbi
(RMB). Capital accounts of the consolidated financial statements are translated into United States dollars from RMB at their historical exchange rates
when the capital transactions occurred.
 
Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates as of balance sheet date. Income and expenditures are translated at the average exchange rate
of the reporting period, which rates are obtained from the website: http://www.oanda.com
 
  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Period end RMB: USD exchange rate   6.9668   6.8764 
Average RMB: USD exchange rate   6.9072   6.6146 
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(o) Comprehensive Loss
 
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined to include all changes in equity except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners.
Among other disclosures, all items that are required to be recognized under current accounting standards as components of comprehensive income (loss)
are required to be reported in a financial statement that is presented with the same prominence as other financial statements. Comprehensive income
(loss) includes net income (loss) and the foreign currency translation changes.
 
(p) Segments
 
In accordance with ASC 280-10, Segment Reporting, the Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), identified as the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer, relies upon the consolidated results of operations as a whole when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Company. As a result of the assessment made by CODM, the Company has only one reportable segment. The Company does not
distinguish between markets or segments for the purpose of internal reporting. As the Company’s long-lived assets are substantially located in the PRC,
no geographical segments are presented.
 
(q) Stock Option Expenses
 
The Company’s stock option expenses are recorded in accordance with ASC 718 and ASC 505.
 
The fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes-Merton model. The Company’s expected volatility assumption is based on the
historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The expected life assumption is primarily based on the expiration date of the option. The risk-free
interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
 
The recognition of stock option expenses is based on awards expected to vest. ASC standards require forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and
revised in subsequent periods, if necessary, if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
 
The stock-based option expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $0 and $1,586,926 net of a reversal for forfeited stock options
of $2,644,877, respectively. There were no forfeitures estimated during the reporting period.
 
(r) Goodwill
 
The Company allocates goodwill from business combinations to reporting units based on the expectation that the reporting unit is to benefit from the
business combination. The Company evaluates its reporting units on an annual basis and, if necessary, reassigns goodwill using a relative fair value
allocation approach. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. These events or circumstances
could include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating performance indicators, competition, or sale or disposition of a
significant portion of a reporting unit.
 
Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgments, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to
reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and the determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. The Company first assesses
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that goodwill is impaired. If the more likely than not threshold is met, the Company
performs a quantitative impairment test.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company performed goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit level and determined that no impairment
was necessary.
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(s) Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets consist of patent, trade names and customer relations associated with the purchase price from the allocation of Yongkang Scrou and
Jinhua An Kao. Such assets are being amortized over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets were amortized as of December 31, 2019. The
amortization expenses for intangible assets were $ 625,070 and $649,089 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
(t) Accounting for Sale of Common Stock and Warrants
 
Gross proceeds are first allocated according to the initial fair value of the freestanding derivative instruments (i.e. the warrants issued to the Company’s
investors in its previous offerings, or the “Investor Warrants”). The remaining proceeds are allocated to common stock. The related issuance expenses,
including the placement agent cash fees, legal fees, the initial fair value of the warrants issued to the placement agent and others were allocated
between the common stock and the Investor Warrants based on how the proceeds are allocated to these instruments. Expenses related to the issuance
of common stock were charged to paid-in capital. Expenses related to the issuance of derivative instruments were expensed upon issuance.
 
(u) Consolidation of variable interest entities
 
In accordance with accounting standards regarding consolidation of variable interest entities, or VIEs, VIEs are generally entities that lack sufficient equity
to finance their activities without additional financial support from other parties or whose equity holders lack adequate decision making ability. All VIEs
with which the Company is involved must be evaluated to determine the primary beneficiary of the risks and rewards of the VIE. The primary beneficiary
is required to consolidate the VIE for financial reporting purposes.
 
The Company has concluded, based on the contractual arrangements, that Kandi New Energy is a VIE and that the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Kandi Vehicles, absorbs a majority of the risk of loss from the activities of this company, thereby enabling the Company, through Kandi Vehicles, to
receive a majority of its expected residual returns.
 
Additionally, because Kandi New Energy is under common control with other entities, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if the
transactions had occurred retroactively as to the beginning of the reporting period of these consolidated financial statements.
 
Control and common control are defined under the accounting standards as “an individual, enterprise, or immediate family members who hold more than
50 percent of the voting ownership interest of each entity.” Because the owners collectively own 100% of Kandi New Energy, and have agreed to vote
their interests in concert since the establishment of each of these three companies as memorialized in the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, the Company
believes that the owners collectively have control and common control of Kandi New Energy. Accordingly, the Company believes that Kandi New Energy
was constructively held under common control by Kandi Vehicles as of the time the contractual agreements were entered into, establishing Kandi
Vehicles as their primary beneficiary. Kandi Vehicles, in turn, is owned by Continental, which is owned by the Company.
 
NOTE 7 - NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, together with subsequent Accounting Standards Updates collectively known as the “leases standard”
or “ASC 842”. ASC 842 requires a lessee recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases. All leases create an asset and a liability for the
lessee in accordance with FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements. Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted the
new standard using the effective date approach. The Company elected to adopt both the transition relief provided in ASU 2018-11 and the package of
practical expedients which allowed us, among other things, to retain historical lease classifications and accounting for any leases that existed prior to
adoption of the standard. Additionally, the management elected the practical expedients allowing the Company not to separate lease and non-lease
components and not record leases with an initial term of twelve months or less (“short-term leases”) on the balance sheet across all existing asset
classes. Per ASU 2018-01, the management elected the practical expedient that permits the Company to continue applying our current policy of
accounting for land use rights that existed as of, or expired before, the effective date of ASC 842. We have applied this policy to all of our existing land
use rights that were not previously accounted for under ASC 840.
 

F-17



 
 
Adoption of the new standard resulted in the recording of operating lease assets (grouped in other long term assets of balance sheet) of $10,743 and
operating lease liabilities (grouped in other current liability of balance sheet)of $11,509,, respectively, as of December 31, 2019 based on the present
value of the lease payments for the remaining lease term of the Company’s existing leases. The assets and liabilities recognized upon application of the
transition provisions were primarily associated to the corporate office leases for SC Autosports. The standard did not materially impact the condensed
consolidated statements of operations or cash flows. Adopting the new standard did not have a material impact on the accounting for leases under which
the Company is the lessee.
  
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04 (Topic 350) Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which
removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical purchase price allocation. Under the amended guidance, a goodwill
impairment charge will now be recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying
amount of goodwill. This ASU will be applied on a prospective basis and is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019,
with early adoption permitted for any impairment tests performed after January 1, 2017. The Company adopted this ASU in the fourth quarter of 2019
and the new standard did not have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
In February 2018, the FASB released ASU 2018-2, “Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.” This
standard update addresses a specific consequence of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“U.S. tax reform”) and allows a reclassification from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained earnings for the stranded tax effects resulting from U.S. tax reform. Consequently, the update eliminates the stranded
tax effects that were created as a result of the historical U.S. federal corporate income tax rate to the newly enacted U.S. federal corporate income tax
rate. The Company is required to adopt this standard in the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in this update
should be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospectively to each period in which the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income
tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is recognized. The Company has finished the evaluation and determined there is no impact of on its Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, which
eliminates, adds, and modifies certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements under ASC 820. This ASU is to be applied on a prospective
basis for certain modified or new disclosure requirements, and all other amendments in the standard are to be applied on a retrospective basis. The new
standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of adoption on the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
NOTE 8 - CONCENTRATIONS
 
(a) Customers
 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 the Company’s major customers, who accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated
revenue, were as follows:
 
  Sales   Trade Receivable  
  Year Ended   Year Ended        
  December 31,   December 31,   December 31,   December 31,  
Major Customers  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Customer A        51%       33%       55%       22%
Customer B   15%  4%  5%  2%
Fengsheng Vehicles Technologies Group Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries

(related parties)   12%  43%  32%  66%
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(b) Suppliers
 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s material suppliers, each of whom accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s
total purchases, were as follows:
 
  Purchases   Accounts Payable  
  Year Ended   Year Ended          
  December 31,   December 31,   December 31,   December 31, 
Major Suppliers  2019   2018   2019   2018  
Zhejiang Kandi Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.   73%       -   8%           - 
Supplier C   11%  7%  -   - 
 
NOTE 9 - LOSS PER SHARE
 
The Company calculates earnings per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, which requires a dual presentation of basic and diluted
earnings per share. Basic earnings per share are computed using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.
Diluted earnings per share represents basic earnings per share adjusted to include the potentially dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and warrants
(using treasury stock method). Due to the average market price of the common stock during the period below the exercise price of the options,
approximately 3,900,000 options were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Due to the
loss from operations, approximately 3,900,000 options were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share, for the year ended December 31,
2019.
 
The following is the calculation of earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 

  December 31,  
  2019   2018  

Net loss  $ (7,188,727)  $ (5,694,699)
Weighted average shares used in basic computation   52,337,308   51,188,647 
Dilutive shares   -   - 
Weighted average shares used in diluted computation   52,337,308   51,188,647 

         
loss per share:         
Basic  $ (0.14)  $ (0.11)
Diluted  $ (0.14)  $ (0.11)
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NOTE 10 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET
 
Accounts receivable are summarized as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Accounts receivable  $ 61,436,514  $ 34,394,738 
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (254,665)   (120,010)
Accounts receivable, net  $ 61,181,849  $ 34,274,728 
 
NOTE 11 - INVENTORIES
 
Inventories are summarized as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Raw material  $ 12,127,957  $ 7,040,728 
Work-in-progress   4,545,736   1,571,179 
Finished goods   11,062,873   13,385,961 
Inventories  $ 27,736,566  $ 21,997,868 

 
NOTE 12 - NOTES RECEIVABLE, NOTES RECEIVABLE FROM THE AFFILIATE COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY
 
As of December 31, 2019, there was $42,487,225 notes receivable from unrelated parties, which was commercial acceptance notes from payments for
equity transfer of the Affiliate Company (refer to Note 23-summarized information of equity method investment in the Affiliate Company). As of December
31, 2018, there was $72,712 notes receivable from unrelated parties, among which $72,712 were bank acceptance notes from payments for sales.
 
As of December 31, 2019, there was $0 notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and related parties. As of December 31, 2018. there was
$3,861,032 notes receivable from the Affiliate Company and related parties, among which $3,861,032 were bank acceptance notes from payments for
sales.

 

F-20



 
 
NOTE 13 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property, plants and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following:
 
  December 31,   December 31, 

  2019   2018  
At cost:       
Buildings  $ 30,447,480  $ 30,638,417 
Machinery and equipment   62,973,794   63,398,627 
Office equipment   1,048,651   852,172 
Motor vehicles and other transport equipment   413,046   418,476 
Molds and others   25,836,241   26,849,806 
   120,719,212   122,157,498 
Less: Accumulated depreciation         
Buildings  $ (5,975,030)  $ (5,019,075)
Machinery and equipment   (14,127,506)   (8,442,940)
Office equipment   (537,829)   (393,893)
Motor vehicles and other transport equipment   (360,098)   (325,917)
Molds and others   (25,310,891)   (25,486,100)
   (46,311,354)   (39,667,925)
Less: provision for impairment for fixed assets   -   (443,650)
Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 74,407,858  $ 82,045,923 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the net book value of property, plant and equipment pledged as collateral for the Company’s bank loans were
$6,484,497 and $8,105,419, respectively. Also see Note 17.
 
Depreciation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $ 7,549,836 and $3,516,064, respectively.
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NOTE 14 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Intangible assets include acquired other intangibles of trade name, customer relations and patent recorded at estimated fair values in accordance with
purchase accounting guidelines for acquisitions.
 
The following table provides the gross carrying value and accumulated amortization for each major class of our intangible assets, other than goodwill:
 

  
Remaining
useful life  

December 31,
2019   

December 31,
2018  

Gross carrying amount:           
Trade name  2 years  $ 492,235  $ 492,235 
Customer relations  2 years   304,086   304,086 
Patent  5.5-7.17 years   4,564,506   4,624,513.00 
     5,360,827   5,420,834 
Less: Accumulated amortization           
Trade name    $ (389,053)  $ (338,307)
Customer relations     (240,342)   (208,993)
Patent     (1,076,660)   (545,407)
     (1,706,055)   (1,092,707)
Intangible assets, net    $ 3,654,772  $ 4,328,127 

 
The aggregate amortization expenses for those intangible assets that continue to be amortized is reflected in amortization of intangible assets in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income and were $ 625,070, $649,089 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
 
Amortization expenses for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
 
2020  $ 625,070 
2021   625,070 
2022   545,711 
2023   542,975 
2024   542,975 
Thereafter   772,971 
Total  $ 3,654,772 
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NOTE 15 - LAND USE RIGHTS
 
The Company’s land use rights consist of the following:
 
  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Cost of land use rights  $ 14,731,847  $ 14,925,518 
Less: Accumulated amortization   (3,459,032)   (3,175,790)
Land use rights, net  $ 11,272,815  $ 11,749,728 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the net book value of the land use rights pledged as collateral for the Company’s bank loans were $4,937,138 and
$7,756,253 respectively. Also see Note 17.
 
The amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $327,250 and $348,533, respectively.
 
Amortization expense for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:
 
2020  $ 327,250 
2021   327,250 
2022   327,250 
2023   327,250 
2024   327,250 
Thereafter   9,636,565 
Total  $ 11,272,815 

  
NOTE 16 - OTHER LONG TERM ASSETS
 
Other long term assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of the following:
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Long term deferred assets  $ 4,819,152  $ 5,865,386 
Prepayments for land use right   4,131,530   - 
Deferred taxes assets   726,182   8,204 
Other receivables - Long term   768,442   - 
Others   366,195   - 
Total other long term asset  $ 10,811,501  $ 5,873,590 

 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s other long term asset included net value of prepayments for land use right of Hainan facility of $4,131,530. As
of December 31, 2019, the land us right of Hainan was not recognized since the land certificate is still in process. The amortization expense for the year
ended December 31, 2019 were $ 92,288.
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NOTE 17 - SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM BANK LOANS
 
Short-term loans are summarized as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Bank A       
Interest rate 5.655% per annum, paid off on April 18, 2019,  secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles, guaranteed by

Mr. Hu Xiaoming and his wife, also guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries. Also see Note 13 and Note 15.   -   10,179,745 
Bank B         
Interest rate 5.66% per annum, paid off on October 14, 2019, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles, also

guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries. Also see Note 13 and Note 15.   -   7,096,737 
Interest rate 5.66% per annum, due on October 15, 2020, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles, also guaranteed

by the Company’s subsidiaries. Also see Note 13 and Note 15.   7,004,650     
Interest rate 5.66% per annum, paid off on December 31, 2019,secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles, also

guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries. Also see Note 13 and Note 15.   -   5,816,997 
Interest rate 5.66% per annum, due on July 4, 2020,secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles, also guaranteed by

the Company’s subsidiaries. Also see Note 13 and Note 15.   4,621,921   4,682,683 
Interest rate 5.66% per annum, paid off on April 24, 2019, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles. Also see Note

13 and Note 15.   -   2,763,074 
Bank C         
Interest rate 5.22% per annum, due on April 18, 2020, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles. Also see Note 13

and Note 15.   4,306,138   - 
Interest rate 5.22% per annum, due on April 23, 2020, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles. Also see Note 13

and Note 15.   5,741,517   - 
Interest rate 5.22% per annum, due on April 22, 2020, secured by the assets of  Kandi Vehicles. Also see Note 13

and Note 15.   4,306,138   - 
  $ 25,980,364  $ 30,539,236 

  
Long-term loan is summarized as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Bank D       
Interest rate 7% per annum, due on December 12, 2021, guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries.   28,133,433   28,794,136 
Long term bank loans - current and noncurrent portion  $ 28,133,433   28,794,136 

 
The interest expense of the short-term and long-term bank loans for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $4,311,640 and $1,708,766,
respectively.
 
As of December 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of short-term loans that was guaranteed by various third parties was $0.
 
NOTE 18 - NOTES PAYABLE
 
Notes payable is presented to certain suppliers as a payment against the outstanding trade payable. Notes payable are mainly bank acceptance notes
and commercial acceptance notes which are non-interest bearing and generally mature within one year.
 
As of December 31, 2019, there was $10,765,344 notes payable, among which $10,765,344 was bank acceptance notes. As of December 31, 2018,
there was $12,787,619 notes payable, among which $8,767,670 were bank acceptance notes, $2,763,074 were commercial acceptance notes and
$1,256,875 were other notes payable. $10,772,078 and $6,440,870 were held as collateral for the notes payable as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.
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NOTE 19 - TAXES
 
(a) Corporation Income Tax
 
Pursuant to the tax laws and regulations of the PRC, the Company’s applicable corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate is 25%. However, Kandi Vehicles and
Jinhua Ankao qualify as High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) companies in the PRC, and are entitled to pay a reduced income tax rate of 15%
for the years presented. A HNTE Certificate is valid for three years. An entity may re-apply for an HNTE certificate when the prior certificate expires.
Historically, Kandi Vehicles has successfully re-applied for such certificates when the its prior certificates expired. Jinhua Ankao has been qualified as
HNTE since 2018. Therefore no records for renewal are available. The applicable CIT rate of each of the Company’s three other subsidiaries, Kandi New
Energy, Yongkang Scrou and Kandi Hainan, the Affiliate Company and its subsidiaries is 25%.
 
The Company’s tax provision or benefit from income taxes for interim periods is determined using an estimate of our annual effective tax rate, adjusted
for discrete items, if any, that are taken into account in the relevant period. Each quarter the Company updates its estimate of the annual effective tax
rate, and if its estimated tax rate changes, the management makes a cumulative adjustment. For 2019, the management estimates that its effective tax
rate will be favorably affected by non-taxable income such as the share of income of the Affiliate Company and the gain from the change of fair value of
contingent liabilities and certain research and development super-deduction and adversely affected by non-deductible expenses such as part of
entertainment expenses. The Company records valuation allowances against the deferred tax assets associated with losses for which we may not realize
a related tax benefit. After combining research and development tax credits of 25% on certain qualified research and development expenses, the
Company’s effective tax rate for December 31, 2019 and 2018 was a tax benefit of 8.78% on a reported loss before taxes of approximately $7.9 million, a
tax expense of 374.30% on a reported income before taxes of approximately $2.1 million, respectively. The effective tax rates for each of the periods
mentioned above are disclosed in the summary table of income tax expenses for December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 
Under ASC 740 guidance relating to uncertain tax positions, which addresses the determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed
on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements, the Company may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more
likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. ASC 740 also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties on income
taxes, accounting in interim periods and requires increased disclosures. As of December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any liability for
unrecognized tax benefits. The Company files income tax returns with the U.S. Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) and those states where the Company
has operations. The Company is subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by the IRS and relevant state tax authorities for years after
2006. During the periods open to examination, the Company has net operating loss carry forwards (“NOLs”) for U.S. federal and state tax purposes that
have attributes from closed periods. Since these NOLs may be utilized in future periods, they remain subject to examination. The Company also files
certain tax returns in the PRC. As of December 31, 2019, the Company was not aware of any pending income tax examinations by U.S. or PRC tax
authorities. The Company records interest and penalties on uncertain tax provisions as income tax expense. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
has no accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
 
For both calendar year of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $0 million, for various federal, foreign, and
state income tax matters. After considering valuation allowance, none of the unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect our effective tax as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. These unrecognized tax benefits are presented on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets net of
the tax effects of net operating loss carry forwards, which are offset by valuation allowance.
 
Income tax expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are summarized as follows:
 
  For Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Current:       
Provision for CIT  $ 374,277  $ 2,954,980 
Deferred:         
Provision for CIT   (1,066,536)   4,815,774 
Income tax (benefit) expense  $ (692,259)  $ 7,770,754 
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The reconciliation of taxes at the PRC statutory rate (25% in 2019 and 2018) to our provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018 was as follows: 
 
  For Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Expected taxation at PRC statutory tax rate  $ (1,970,247)  $ 519,014 
Effect of differing tax rates in different jurisdictions   363,199   292 
Effect of PRC preferential tax rates   162,218   607,069 
Non-taxable income   (86,537)   (1,300,212)
Non-deductible expenses ①   1,703,235   2,683,306 
Research and development super-deduction   (350,449)   (487,725)

(Over) Under-accrued EIT for previous years   (1,792,560)   171,623 
Addition to valuation allowance   1,301,225   5,793,368 
Other   (22,343)   (215,981)
Income tax  (benefit) expense  $ (692,259)  $ 7,770,754 

  
① It’s mainly due to share of loss in the Affiliate Company and Kandi Hainan’s interest expense.
 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and December
31, 2018 are summarized as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Deferred tax assets:        

Accruals and reserves  $ 672,983   $ 8,204 
Depreciation   53,199   113,767 
Loss carried forward   2,401,125   7,029,548 

Total deferred tax assets   3,127,307   7,151,519 
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Expense   (680,906)   (1,022,141)
Intangible   (519,006)   (1,019,776)
Revenue   (162,874)   -  

Total deferred tax liability   (1,362,786)   (2,041,917)
Net deferred tax assets  $ 1,764,521  $ 5,109,602 

less: valuation allowance   (2,401,125)   (6,812,741)
Net deferred tax liabilities, net of valuation allowance  $ (636,604)  $ (1,703,139)

 
The aggregate NOLs in 2019 was $9.6 million deriving from entities in the PRC and Hong Kong. The aggregate NOLs in 2018 was $28.1 million deriving
from entities in the PRC and Hong Kong. The NOLs will start to expire from 2021 if they are not used. The cumulative net operating loss in the PRC can
be carried forward for five years, to offset future net profits for income tax purposes. The company has $0 cumulative net operating loss in U.S. to carry
forward as of December 31, 2019. The cumulative net operating loss in Hong Kong can be carried forward without an expiration date.
 
Operating loss carry forward for tax purpose resulted in a deferred tax asset of $2.4 million with a full valuation allowance at December 31, 2019. Tax
benefit of operating loss is evaluated on an ongoing basis including a review of historical and projected future operating results, the eligible carry forward
period, and available tax planning strategies.
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Income (loss) before income taxes from PRC and non-PRC sources for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are summarized as follows:
 
  For Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Income(loss) before income taxes consists of:       
PRC  $ (5,413,025)  $ (1,909,305)
Non-PRC   (2,467,961)   3,985,360 
Total  $ (7,880,986)  $ 2,076,055 

 
Net change in the valuation allowance of deferred tax assets are summarized as follows:
 
Net change of valuation allowance of Deferred tax assets   
Balance at December 31, 2017  $ 1,019,373 
Additions-change to tax expense   5,793,368 
Balance at December 31,2018   6,812,741 
Additions-change to tax expense   1,301,225 
Prior year true up of loss carried forward   (5,712,841)
Balance at December 31,2019  $ 2,401,125 

 
(b) Tax Holiday Effect
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the PRC CIT rate was 25%. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to tax exemptions (tax
holidays) for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 
The combined effects of income tax expense exemptions and reductions available to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are
as follows:
 
  Year Ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Tax benefit (holiday) credit  $ 1,532,748  $ 1,090,348 
Basic net income per share effect  $ 0.000  $ 0.000 
 
(c) The Tax Cuts and Job Act
 
On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the
Tax Act. SAB 118 provides a measurement period that should not extend beyond one year from the Tax Act enactment date for companies to complete
the accounting under ASC 740. In accordance with SAB 118, a company must reflect the income tax effects of those aspects of the Tax Act for which the
accounting under ASC 740 is complete. To the extent that a company’s accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Act is incomplete but it is
able to determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in its financial statements. If a company cannot determine a provisional
estimate to be included in its financial statements, it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the provisions of the tax laws that were in effect
immediately before the enactment of the Tax Act.
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Pursuant to the disclosure provision of SAB 118, the Company has completed and recorded provisional amounts for the income tax effects of the TCJA
for the year ended December 31st, 2019.
 
Based on Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) staff Q&A Topic 740, No. 5, Accounting for Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (GILTI), the
FASB staff noted that the Company must make an accounting policy election to either (1) recognize taxes due on future U.S. inclusions in taxable income
related to GILTI as a current-period expense when incurred (the “period cost method”) or (2) factor such amount into the Company’s measure of its
deferred taxes (the “deferred method”). The Company elected to treat the GILTI as a current-period expense when incurred.
 
NOTE 20 – LEASES
 
The Company has corporate office leases for SC Autosports, with a term of 37 months from January 31, 2017 to January 31, 2020. The monthly lease
payment is $11,000. The Company adopted ASC 842 to record operating lease assets and operating lease liabilities as of January 1, 2019, with a
remaining lease term of 13 months and discount rate of 4.75%.The lease will be renewed to April 30th 2021.
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s right - of - use asset (grouped in other long term assets of balance sheet) was $10,743 and lease liability
(grouped in other current liability of balance sheet) was $11,509. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s operating lease cost was
$132,000.
 
Supplemental information related to operating leases was as follows:
 

  

Year ended 
December 31,

2019  
Cash payments for operating leases  $ 132,000 
New operating lease assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities  $ 0 
 
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 were as follow:
 
Maturity of Lease Liabilities:  2020  
Lease payable   11,000 
Interest   509 
Total  $ 11,509 
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NOTE 21 - CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION LIABILITY
 
On January 3, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity of Jinhua An Kao. The Company paid approximately RMB 25.93
million (approximately $4 million) at the closing of the transaction using cash on hand and issued a total of 2,959,837 shares of restrictive stock or 6.2% of
the Company’s total outstanding shares of the common stock valued at approximately $20.7 million to the former shareholder of Jinhua An Kao and his
designees (the “An Kao Shareholders”), and may be required to pay future consideration up to an additional 2,959,837 shares of common stock, which
are being held in escrow, to be released contingent upon the achievement of certain net income-based milestones in the next three years. Any escrowed
shares that are not released from escrow to the An Kao Shareholders for failure to achieve the milestones will be forfeited and returned to the Company
for cancellation. While the escrowed shares are held in escrow, the Company will retain all voting rights with respect to the shares. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, Jinhua An Kao achieved its first year net profit target. According to the agreement, the former shareholders of An Kao received
739,959 shares of Kandi’s restrictive common stock or 12.5% of the total equity consideration (i.e., 5,919,674 total shares) as part of the purchase price.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, Jinhua An Kao achieved its second year net profit target. According to the agreement, the former shareholders
of An Kao will receive 986,810 shares of Kandi’s restrictive common stock or 16.67% of the total equity consideration (i.e., 5,919,674 total shares) as part
of the purchase price.
 
On July 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity of SC Autosports. The Company issued a total of 171,969 shares of
restrictive stock or approximately 0.3% of the Company’s total outstanding shares of the common stock valued at approximately $0.8 million at the
closing of transaction to the former members of SC Autosports within 30 days from the signing date of the Transfer Agreement, and may be required to
pay future consideration up to an additional 1,547,721 shares of common stock, which are being held in escrow, to be released contingent upon the
achievement of certain pre-tax profit based milestones in the next three years. Any escrowed shares that are not released from escrow to the SC
Autosports former members for failure to achieve the milestones will be forfeited and returned to the Company for cancellation. While the escrowed
shares are held in escrow, the Company will retain all voting rights with respect to the shares. For the year ended December 31, 2018, SC Autosports
achieved its first year pre-tax profit target. According to the agreement, the former members of SC Autosports received 343,938 shares of Kandi’s
restrictive common stock or 20% of total Kandi stock in the purchase price. For the year ended December 31, 2019, SC Autosports achieved its second
year pre-tax profit target. According to the agreement, the former members of SC Autosports will receive 515,907 shares of Kandi’s restrictive common
stock or 30% of total Kandi stock in the purchase price.
 
The Company recorded contingent consideration liability of the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration the Company currently expects to pay
to Jinahua Ankao and SC Autosports’ former members upon the achievement of certain milestones. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability
associated with remaining shares of restrictive common stock was estimated by using the Monte Carlo simulation method, which took into account all
possible scenarios. This fair value measurement is classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy prescribed by ASC Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosures. In accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations, the Company will re-measure this liability each reporting
period and record changes in the fair value through a separate line item within the Company’s consolidated statements of Income.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company’s contingent consideration liability was $5,197,000 and $7,256,000, respectively.
 
NOTE 22 - STOCK AWARD
 
In connection with the appointment of Mr. Henry Yu as a member of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), the Board authorized the Company to
compensate Mr. Henry Yu with 5,000 shares of Company’s restricted common stock every six months as compensation, beginning in July 2011.
 
As compensation for Mr. Jerry Lewin’s services as a member of the Board, the Board authorized the Company to compensate Mr. Jerry Lewin with 5,000
shares of Company’s restricted common stock every six months, beginning in August 2011.
 
As compensation for Ms. Kewa Luo’s services as the Company’s investor relation officer, the Board authorized the Company to compensate Ms. Kewa
Luo with 5,000 shares of the Company’s common stock every six months, beginning in September 2013.
 
In November 2016, the Company entered into a three-year employment agreement with Mr. Mei Bing, to hire him as the Company’s Chief Financial
Officer. Under the agreement, Mr. Mei Bing was entitled to receive an aggregate 10,000 shares of common stock each year, vested in four equal
quarterly installments of 2,500 shares. On January 29, 2019, Mr. Mei resigned from his position as the Company’s CFO.
 
On January 29, 2019, the Board appointed Ms. Zhu Xiaoying as interim Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Zhu was entitled to receive 10,000 shares of the
common stock annually under the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”) as a year-end equity bonus.
 
The fair value of stock awards based on service is determined based on the closing price of the common stock on the date the shares are approved by
the Board for grant. The compensation costs for awards of common stock are recognized over the requisite service period of three or six months.
 

F-29



 
 
On December 30, 2013, the Board approved a proposal (as submitted by the Compensation Committee) of an award (the “Board’s Pre-Approved Award
Grant Sub-Plan under the 2008 Plan”) for certain executives and other key employees. The fair value of each award granted under the 2008 Plan is
determined based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant of such award. On September 26, 2016, the Board approved to
terminate the previous Board’s Pre-Approved Award Grant Sub-Plan under the 2008 Plan and adopted a new plan to grant the total number of shares of
common stock of the stock award for selected executives and key employees 250,000 shares of common stock for each fiscal year. On April 18, 2018,
the Board authorized the Company to grant 238,600 shares of common stock to certain management members and employees as compensation for their
past services under the 2008 Plan. On April 30, 2019, the Board authorized the Company to grant 238,600 shares of common stock to certain
management members and employees as compensation for their past services under the 2008 Plan.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized $1,360,258 and $1,343,560 of employee stock award expenses for stock
compensation and annual incentive award under the 2008 Plan paid to Board members, management and consultants under General and Administrative
Expenses, respectively.
  
NOTE 23 - SUMMARIZED INFORMATION OF EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENT IN THE AFFILIATE COMPANY
 
The Company’s condensed consolidated net income (loss) includes the Company’s proportionate share of the net income or loss of the Company’s
equity method investees. When the Company records its proportionate share of net income (loss) in such investees, it increases equity income (loss) –
net in the Company’s consolidated statements of income and the Company’s carrying value in that investment. Conversely, when the Company records
its proportionate share of a net loss in such investees, it decreases equity income (loss) – net in the Company’s consolidated statements of income (loss)
and the Company’s carrying value in that investment. All intra-entity profits and losses with the Company’s equity method investees have been
eliminated.
 
On March 21, 2019, Kandi Vehicles signed an Equity Transfer Agreement with Geely Technologies Group Co., Ltd. to transfer certain equity interests in
the Affiliate Company to Geely. Pursuant to the Transfer Agreement, the Affiliate Company converted a loan of RMB 314 million (approximately $45.1
million) from Geely Group last year to equity in order to increase its cash flow. As a result, the registered capital of the Affiliate Company became RMB
2.40 billion (approximately $344.5 million), of which Kandi Vehicles owned 43.47% and Geely owned 56.53%, respectively, upon the conversion of the
loan into equity in the Affiliate Company (the “March Affiliate Loan to Equity Conversion”). Kandi Vehicles further agree to sell 21.47% of its equity
interests in the Affiliate Company to Geely for a total amount of RMB 516 million (approximately $74.1 million) (the “Affiliate Equity Transfer”). Kandi
Vehicles shall own 22% of the equity interests of the Affiliate Company as a result of the transfer. As of September 29, 2019, the Company has received
payments in cash totaling RMB 220 million (approximately $31.6 million) and certain commercial acceptance notes of RMB 296 million (approximately
$42.5 million) from Geely, of which RMB 140 million (approximately $20.1 million) shall mature on January 20, 2020 and the remaining RMB 156 million
(approximately $22.4 million) shall mature on March 29, 2020. As of September 30, 2019, the equity transfer has been completed. Therefore, in the third
quarter of 2019, the Company has recognized the gain from equity sale of $20,438,986. As of date of this report, RMB 110 million (approximately $15.8
million) of the commercial acceptance notes has been collected. Affected by the coronavirus, collection of the remaining amount was agreed to be
extended.
 
The Company accounted for its investments in the Affiliate Company under the equity method of accounting. Since the March Affiliate Loan to Equity
Conversion was completed at the very end of the first quarter, the Company still recorded 50% of the Affiliate Company’s loss for the first quarter of
2019. Starting from the second quarter of the 2019, since the equity interests in the Affiliate Company have been reduced to 43.47% and the Affiliate
Equity Transfer was completed at the very end of the third quarter, the Company recorded 43.47% of the Affiliate Company’s loss for the second and
third quarter of 2019 and recorded 22% of the Affiliate Company’s loss for the fourth quarter of 2019.
 
The combined results of operations and financial position of the Affiliate Company are summarized below:
 
  Years ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Condensed income statement information:         
Net sales  $ 124,280,561  $ 122,480,854 
Gross loss   (2,609,764)   (17,749,674)

Gross margin   -2.1%  -14.5%
Net loss   (85,972,257)   (36,340,082)
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  December 31,   December 31, 
  2019   2018  
Condensed balance sheet information:       
Current assets  $ 640,688,401  $ 751,143,254 
Noncurrent assets   64,589,516   140,736,300 
Total assets  $ 705,277,917  $ 891,879,554 

Current liabilities   490,625,640   633,711,465 
Equity   214,652,277   258,168,089 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 705,277,917  $ 891,879,554 

 
Note: The following table illustrates the captions used in the Company’s Income Statements for its equity based investment in the Affiliate Company.
 
The Company’s equity method investments in the Affiliate Company for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Investment in the Affiliate Company, beginning of the period,  $ 128,929,893  $ 70,681,013 
Investment in Affiliate Company in 2018   -   79,256,588 
Investment decreased in 2019 due to equity sale of Affiliate Equity Transfer   (72,309,417)     
Gain from equity dilution of March Affiliate Loan to Equity Conversion   4,263,764   - 
Gain from equity sale of Affiliate Equity Transfer   20,438,986   - 
Company’s share in net (loss) income of Affiliate based on 50% ownership for three months ended March 31, 2019,

43.47%① ownership for six months ended September 30, 2019, 22% ownership for three months ended
December 31, 2019 and 50% ownership for year ended December 31, 2018   (30,864,754)   (18,170,041)
Intercompany transaction elimination   (5,649)   (160,254)
Year 2018 unrealized profit realized   153,465   441,589 

Subtotal   (30,716,938)   (17,888,706)
Exchange difference   (3,377,674)   (3,119,002)
Investment in Affiliate Company, end of the period  $ 47,228,614  $ 128,929,893 

  
(1) Represents the rounded result of dividing RMB1,045 million (the Company’s ownership interest in the Affiliate Company) by RMB2,404 million (the

Affiliate Company’s total equity interest). We used the actual result and kept full decimals when calculating the Company’s share in net (loss) income
of the Affiliate Company.

 
The gain from equity dilution for the year ended December 31, 2019 resulted from the Affiliate Company issuing shares to the Affiliate Company partner,
Greely, in exchange for extinguishment of a loan from Greely, resulting in dilution of equity ownership of the Company from 50% to 43.47%. This dilutive
transaction was treated as if the Company sold a proportional share of its investment in the Affiliate Company.
 
Sales to the Company’s customers, the Affiliate Company and its subsidiaries, for the year ended December 31, 2019, were $ 15,861,441 or 11.7% of
the Company’s total revenue, a decrease of 67.5% from $48,731,310 of the year ended December 31, 2018. Sales to the Affiliate Company and its
subsidiaries were primarily of battery packs, body parts, EV drive motors, EV controllers, air conditioning units and other auto parts.
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On May 23, 2018, in order to obtain its manufacturing license, the Affiliate Company increased its registered capital by RMB 1.09 billion (approximately
$159 million), of which Kandi Vehicle contributed its portion by converting loans to the Affiliate company in the amount of RMB 545 million (approximately
$79 million) that were previously included in the current and noncurrent amount due from the Affiliate Company and its subsidiaries into the Affiliate
Company’s registered capital. The loans balance of RMB 545 million (approximately $79 million) consisted of a multiple round of loans to Affiliate
Company, including additional RMB 150 million (approximately $22 million) with annual interest rate of 4.35% during 2018 and RMB 395 million
(approximately $57 million) in the previous years, for facilitating its operating capital. Geely Group became a new shareholder of the Affiliate Company by
investing RMB 545 million (approximately $79 million) in the Affiliate Company.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amount due from the Affiliate Company and its subsidiaries, was $31,330,763 and $67,683,462, respectively.
 
In the first quarter of 2019, the Company lent RMB 75,000,000 (approximately $10.9 million) to the Affiliate Company with effective annual interest rate of
4.03%, and the loan principal has been collected in the same quarter. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the net amount due from the Affiliate
Company and its subsidiaries included $2,056,564 and $ 1,845,255 interest receivable related to the loan lent to the Affiliate Company. As of December
31, 2019 and 2018, the net amount due from the Affiliate Company and its subsidiaries didn’t include any outstanding loan principal.
 
NOTE 24 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Guarantees and pledged collateral for bank loans to other parties:
 
(1) Guarantees for bank loans
 
On March 15, 2013, the Company entered into a guarantee contract to serve as the guarantor of Nanlong Group Co., Ltd. (“NGCL”) for NGCL’s $
2,870,758 (RMB 20 million) loan from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Jinhua Branch, with a related loan period of March 15, 2013, to March 15,
2016. NGCL is not related to the Company. Under this guarantee contract, the Company agreed to assume joint liability as the loan guarantor. In April
2017, Shanghai Pudong Development Bank filed a lawsuit against NGCL, the Company and ten other parties in Zhejiang Province People’s Court in
Yongkang City, alleging NGCL defaulted on a bank loan borrowed from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank for a principal amount of approximately
$2.9 million and demanded that the guarantor bear the liability for compensation. On May 27, 2017, a judicial mediation took place in Yongkang City and
parties reached a settlement in mediation, in which the plaintiff agreed NGCL would repay the loan principal and interest in installments. If there were an
event of default that NGCL could not repay the loan, the Company may be obligated to bear the liability of defaulted amount. The Company expects the
likelihood of incurring losses in connection with this matter to be remote.
 
On September 29, 2015, the Company entered into a guarantee contract to serve as the guarantor of Zhejiang Shuguang Industrial Co., Ltd. (“ZSICL”)
for a bank loan in the amount of $ 4,162,600 (RMB 29 million) from Ping An Bank, with a related loan period of September 29, 2015, to September 28,
2016. ZSICL is not related to the Company. Under this guarantee contract, the Company agreed to perform all the obligations of ZSICL under the loan
contract if ZSICL failed to perform its obligations as set forth therein. In August 2016, Ping An Bank Yiwu Branch (“Ping An Bank”) filed a lawsuit against
ZSICL, the Company, and three other parties in Zhejiang Province People’s Court in Yiwu City, alleging ZSICL defaulted on a bank loan it had borrowed
from Pin An Bank for a principal amount of RMB 29 million or approximately $4.2 million (the “Principal”), for which the Company was a guarantor along
with other three parties. On December 25, 2016, the court ruled that ZSICL should repay Ping An Bank the principal and associated interest remaining on
the bank loan within 10 days once the adjudication was effective. Additionally, the court found that the Company and the three other parties, acting as
guarantors, have joint liability for this bank loan. On July 31, 2017, the Company and Ping An Bank reached an agreement to settle. According to the
agreement, the Company was to pay Ping An Bank RMB 20 million or approximately $3.0 million in four installments before October 31, 2017 to release
the Company from its guarantor liability for this default. As of October 31, 2017, the Company has paid all four installments totaling RMB 20 million or
approximately $3.0 million to Ping An Bank and thus the Company has been released from its guarantor liability for this default. According to the
Company’s agreement with ZSICL, ZSICL agreed to reimburse all the Company’s losses due to ZSICL’s default on the loan principal and interests, of
which RMB 11.9 million has been reimbursed to the Company as of the date of this report and the remainder is expected to be reimbursed in installments
within next two years. The Company expects the likelihood of incurring losses in connection with this matter to be low.
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On August 29, 2018, the Company entered into a guarantee contract to serve as the guarantor for the Affiliate Company for bank acceptance notes in
the aggregate amount of $3,014,296 (RMB 21 million) from Bank of China, with a related period of August 29, 2018 to February 29, 2019, and which
were paid off on February 29, 2019 by the Affiliate Company.
 
On August 30, 2018, the Company entered into a guarantee contract to serve as the guarantor for Kandi Jiangsu for bank loans in the aggregate amount
of $7,176,896 (RMB 50 million) from China Merchants Bank Nantong branch, with a related loan period of August 31, 2018 to February 28, 2019, and
was paid off on February 1, 2019. On February 1, 2019, the loan was renewed with a term of February 1, 2019 to July 31, 2019 and was paid off on July
31, 2019 by Kandi Jiangsu.
 
On September 3, 2018, the Company entered into a guarantee contract to serve as the guarantor for the Affiliate Company for bank acceptance notes in
the aggregate amount of $4,162,600 (RMB 29 million) from Bank of China, with a related period of September 3, 2018 to March 3, 2019 and was paid off
on March 3, 2019 by the Affiliate Company.
 
(2) Pledged collateral for bank loans to other parties.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, none of the Company’s land use rights or plants and equipment were pledged as collateral securing
bank loans to other parties.
 
Litigation
 
Beginning in March 2017, putative shareholder class actions were filed against Kandi Technologies Group, Inc. (“Kandi”) and certain of its current and
former directors and officers in the United States District Court for the Central District of California and the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York. The complaints generally alleged violations of the federal securities laws based Kandi’s disclosure in March 2017 that its financial
statements for the years 2014, 2015 and the first three quarters of 2016 would need to be restated, and seek damages on behalf of putative classes of
shareholders who purchased or acquired Kandi’s securities prior to March 13, 2017. Kandi moved to dismiss the remaining cases, all of which were
pending in the New York federal court, and that motion was granted by an order entered on September 30, 2019, and the time to appeal has run.
 
Beginning in May 2017, purported shareholder derivative actions based on the same underlying events described above were filed against certain
current and former directors of Kandi in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The New York federal court confirmed the
voluntary dismissal of these actions in April 2019.
 
In October 2017, a shareholder filed a books and records action against the Company in the Delaware Court of Chancery pursuant to 8 Del. C. Section
220 seeking the production of certain documents generally relating to the same underlying items described above as well as attorney’s fees (the “Section
220 Litigation”). On September 28, 2018, the parties, through their respective counsel, agreed to dismiss the Section 220 Litigation with prejudice and
with each party bearing its own attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses, thereby concluding the action. In February 2019, this same shareholder
commenced a derivative action against certain current and former directors of Kandi in the Delaware Court of Chancery. A motion to dismiss this
derivative action was filed in May 2019 and that motion was denied on April 27, 2020.
 
Separately, in connection with allegations of misconduct identified in pre-suit demands made by putative shareholders of Kandi, Kandi formed a Special
Litigation Committee (“SLC”) and retained Delaware law firm as independent counsel to the SLC to aid in the SLC’s investigation of, and to ultimately
report on, the allegations of misconduct set forth in the pre-suit demands. The investigation remains ongoing.
 
While the Company believes that the claims in these litigations are without merit and will defend itself vigorously, the Company is unable to estimate the
possible loss, if any, associated with these litigations. The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain and the outcome of these matters, whether
favorable or unfavorable, could have a negative impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations due to defense costs, diversion of
management resources and other factors. Defending litigation can be costly, and adverse results in the litigations could result in substantial monetary
judgments. No assurance can be made that litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future financial position. 
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NOTE 25 - SEGMENT REPORTING
 
The Company has one operating segment. The Company’s revenue and long-lived assets are primarily derived from and located in China and US. The
Company does not have manufacturing operations outside of China.
 
The following table sets forth disaggregation of revenue:
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2019   2018  

  
Sales

Revenue   
Sales

Revenue  
Primary geographical markets       
Overseas  $ 24,623,424  $ 12,741,570 
China   111,117,912   99,697,258 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Major products         
EV parts  $ 110,675,908  $ 99,099,312 
EV products   108,640   - 
Off-road vehicles   22,743,142   13,339,516 
Electric Scooters and Electric Self-Balancing Scooters   2,213,646   - 
Total  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 

         
Timing of revenue recognition         
Products transferred at a point in time  $ 135,741,336  $ 112,438,828 
 
NOTE 26 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT
 
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) surfaced. The spread of COVID-19 around China and other parts of the world in the first
quarter of 2020 has caused significant volatility in the markets of China, U.S., and the rest of the world. The pandemic has resulted in quarantines, travel
restrictions, and the temporary closure of stores and facilities in China and elsewhere, although the Company’s operations in China has fully resumed in
early March. There is significant uncertainty around the breadth and duration of business disruptions related to COVID-19, as well as its impact on the
economy of China, U.S. and international markets and, as such, the extent of the business disruption and the related financial impact cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.
 
After two years of negotiation, on March 9, 2020, a real estate repurchase agreement was entered into by and between Kandi Vehicles and Jinhua
Economic and Technological Development Zone that will enable Kandi Vehicles to optimize its production efficiency, lower operating costs, and generate
a substantial cash inflow of RMB 525 million (USD 75.6 million) and will get no less than RMB 500 million (USD 71.9 million) subsidies based on Kandi
Vehicle’s financial contribution to the local department of finance within the next eight years by monetizing one of its largest assets.
 
On March 27, 2020, the “Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act” was signed into law. The CARES Act, among other things,
includes provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer side social security payments, net operating loss carryback periods,
alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections to tax depreciation methods for
qualified improvement property. The Company does not anticipate significant tax impact on its financial and continue to examine the impacts this CARES
Act may have on its business.
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 Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
 
None.
 
 Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
 
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
The Company is required to disclose in reports that are filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)
is: (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.
 
The Company has evaluated, under the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and the Interim Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness
of disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. Based on our evaluation, we concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls were
effective as of December 31, 2019. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, the Company’s management recognized that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives,
and the Company’s management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures. 
 
(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”) as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under Exchange Act. The Company’s ICFR is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
 
The Company’s ICFR includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.
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All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, so that no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues are detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Therefore, any current
evaluation of controls cannot and should not be projected to future periods.
  
Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our system of ICFR as of December 31, 2019, the last day of our fiscal year of 2019. This
assessment was based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 2013 (the “2013 COSO Framework”) and included an evaluation of elements such as the design and operating
effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies, and our overall control environment. Based on
management’s evaluation under the 2013 COSO Framework, management concluded that the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were
effective as of December 31, 2019 based on those criteria.
 
We reviewed the results of management’s assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.
 
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP, has audited the effectiveness of our ICFR as of December 31,
2019 as stated in their report which is attached to the auditors’ report included under item 8 of this report.
 
(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 
There was no change to our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred
during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
 
 Item 9B. Other Information.
 
None.
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 PART III

 
 Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 
The following table sets forth certain information regarding our executive officers and members of the Company’s board of directors (the “Board of
Directors”) as of April 23, 2020:
 
Name  Age  Position  Served From
Hu Xiaoming  63  Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer  June 2007
Zhu Xiaoying  49  Interim Chief Financial Officer  January 2019
Chen Liming (1), (2), (3)  83  Director (Independent)  May 2012
Lin Yi (2), (3)   67  Director (Independent)  May 2017
Jerry Lewin (1)   65  Director (Independent)  November 2010
Henry Yu (1),(2),(3)   66  Director (Independent)  July 2011
Sun Chenming  55  Director  December 2019
Wang Lin  31  Director  December 2019

 
(1) Member of Audit Committee
 
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
 
(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
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Business Experience of Directors and Executive Officers
 
Biographical Information
 
Hu Xiaoming was appointed as our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board in June 2007. Prior to joining the Company, from
October 2003 to April 2005, Mr. Hu served as the Project Manager (Chief Scientist) in the WX Pure Electric Vehicle Development Important Project of
Electro-vehicle in the State 863 Plan. From October 1984 to March 2003, Mr. Hu served as: (i) Factory Director of the Yongkang Instrument Factory, (ii)
Factory Director of the Yongkang Mini Car Factory, (iii) Chairman and General Manager of the Yongkang Vehicle Company, (iv) General Manager of the
Wan Xiang Electric Vehicle Developing Center and (v) the General Manager of the Wan Xiang Battery Company. Mr. Hu personally owned four invention
patents and seven utility model patents, which he transferred to the Company in fiscal year 2012. 
 
Zhu Xiaoying, was appointed as interim Chief Financial Officer, effective January 29, 2019. Ms. Zhu has been engaged in the financial management
industry for over 20 years. She has extensive experience in the financial management of publicly traded companies. From October 2003 to June 2007,
Ms. Zhu was the Chief Financial Officer of Zhejiang Kandi Vehicle Co., Ltd.; from June 29, 2007 to April 30, 2015, Ms. Zhu served as the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer and director. After her time as Kandi’s Chief Financial Officer, she returned to Zhejiang Kandi Vehicle Co., Ltd. as its Chief
Financial Officer, where she is currently employed. Prior to 2003, Ms. Zhu served as a financial manager at Zhejiang YongKang Auto Manufacturing
Company. Ms. Zhu graduated from Hangzhou University of Electronic Technology with a degree in accounting in July 1992 and obtained the EMBA
certificate from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2011. Ms. Zhu has obtained qualification certificate of the chief financial officer, the international
registered internal auditor (CIA) qualification certificate, the CMMA international registered management accountant qualification certificate, and the
national first-level credit manager qualification certificate in China.
 
Sun Chenming , was appointed as a director of the Company in December 2019. Mr. Sun is an international certified management accountant. He
currently serves as the deputy general manager of Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. (“Kandi Vehicles”). Mr. Sun joined the Kandi Vehicles in October
2007, since when he has been serving Kandi Vehicles as the general manager of the enterprise management department and the general manager of
Kandi automobile business department. Mr. Sun has been responsible for the financial internal control audit business of the Company since 2013. Mr.
Sun graduated from HeFei University of Technology in July 1987 and then worked in Zhejiang Sifang Group Company from August 1987 to October
2007, serving as its manager of quality management department, general quality engineer, and manager of enterprise management department, etc. He
has a theoretical foundation and rich practical experiences in the establishment, operation and monitoring of the enterprise management system and
financial internal control management system of public companies. Mr. Sun has a solid understanding and hands-on experience for the regulations of
U.S. public companies with respect to the internal control of financial reporting and the internal control evaluation system standard of COSO financial
system which is commonly used by public companies.
 
Wang Lin was appointed as a director of the Company in December 2019. Ms. Wang has been serving as Chief Financial Officer Assistant of the
Company since June 2015. Before joining the Company, Ms. Wang served as Fund Accountant of State Street Technology (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. from
December 2014 to June 2015. At the Company, Ms. Wang is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
U.S. GAAP standards, and the preparation of SEC reports, including the Annual Reports on Form 10-K and the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. Ms.
Wang has knowledge of the basic U.S. GAAP standards and SEC regulations. She is also familiar with the culture and business process of the
Company. Mastering good communication and coordination skills, Ms. Wang also has financial management experience of U.S. listed companies. Ms.
Wang received her Bachelor degree in Finance from Zhejiang Gongshang University in 2011 and received her Master degree in Accounting from Hofstra
University in 2014.
 
Lin Yi was appointed as a director of Kandi on May 4, 2017. He has extensive experience in automotive engineering and multi-body system dynamics
research. Throughout his career, he has been awarded numerous high-ranking national science and technology rewards. He served several key senior
roles in academic and industrial organizations and was given Special Government Allowances from the State Council in 1992. Additionally, he was
named an “Expert of China’s Machinery Industry” in 1995 and elected to the “Outstanding Young Science Talents in China’s Automobile Industry” in
1998. From 2007 to 2015, he served as a deputy chief engineer at Beijing Automotive Group Co., Ltd., as an executive director of Beijing Automotive
New Energy Vehicle Co., Ltd., and as the executive vice president of Beijing Automotive Research Institute. Prior to that, he was a part-time professor at
Beijing University of Technology, Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Institute of Electrical Engineering at China Academy of Sciences,
Shanghai Jiaotong University, and Hunan University. He was appointed as the dean of Automotive Engineering at Jilin University of Technology in 1996
and remained in that position until 2000.
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Jerry Lewin was appointed as a director of the Company in November 2010. Jerry Lewin became Senior Vice President of Field Profitability Globally of
Hyatt Hotels Corporation in January of 2015. In his new responsibilities he and his team are to move the company forward with new initiatives to be the
best operator in the Hospitality Industry. Prior to this promotion, he served as Senior Vice President of Field Operations for Hyatt Hotels Corporation and
is responsible for managing the hotels in North American continent. Mr. Lewin has been with Hyatt since 1987. In his past capacity as Senior Vice
President of Operation Lewin supervised a number of areas, including finance, sales and marketing, public relations, customer service, engineering, and
human resources. Lewin serves as a member of the Hyatt Hotels Corporation’s Managing Committee and sits on the board of directors of the New York
City Hotel Association. Since July 2009, Mr. Lewin has served as a director of several companies in the past. Lewin currently serves as the President of
the New York Law Enforcement Foundation and as the President of the NY State Troopers PBA Signal 30 Fund. Mr. Lewin has served in various
management capacities for several hotel companies in San Francisco, Oakland, Los Angeles, San Diego and Las Vegas. Mr. Lewin received his
Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University and completed the Executive Development Program at J.L. Kellogg Graduate School of Management
at Northwestern University.
  
Henry Yu was appointed as a director of the Company on July 1, 2011. In October of 2015, Henry joined Asian Investors Consortium as an Executive
Director. Asian Investors Consortium of Asia invests in projects in Greater China and in Asia Pacific. Henry is also a Senior Advisor to ChinaPlus Capital
Ltd of Shanghai, a company that focuses on bridging US/China business. Yu, a seasoned banker of about 34 years, has had an excellent banking career
covering domestic banking and global business. He was Managing Director of the Global Financial Institutions of Fifth Third Bank from 2012-September
of 2015. Previous affiliation included Bank of America in HK, Comerica Bank, National City Bank, SunTrust Bank, Standard Chartered Bank China, and
East West Bank. Henry is a well-rounded banker having been involved in Investment Banking, Commercial and International Multinational Lending,
Treasury Management, Credit Administration, Compliance, Foreign bank relationship management, Trade Finance, and Global Supply Chain. From 2003
through 2007, Yu held Series 7 and 62 Certification from the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. Henry Yu is also an avid volunteer promoting
U.S./China and U.S./Emerging Markets business relationships and transactions. Through Henry’s 25 plus years of coverage on Emerging Markets, Asia,
and in particular Greater China, he is a frequent speaker and lecturer on Asian/U.S./China business to universities in Georgia (Emory University, Georgia
Tech, Georgia State University, Kennesaw State University, Georgia Perimeter College), and universities in China, namely Sichuan University, Suzhou
Institute, Jiliang University, and Jinan University. Henry chairs the Advisory Board of the National Association of Chinese-Americans, and is a member of
the Global Commerce Council of the Metro Atlanta Chamber. A believer in education and mentorship, Henry sits on the Asian Studies Board of
Kennesaw State University, a member of Georgia State University’s China Task Force, and Trustee of Georgia Perimeter College’s Foundation Board.
Henry is also President of the Hong Kong Association of Atlanta, and works closely with the NYC Office of the HK Economic & Trade Office in NYC.
Henry received his BA degree in Economics in 1978 from the University of Michigan and MBA in Finance from the University of Detroit in 1980.
 
Chen Liming was appointed as a director of the Company on May 1, 2012. Mr. Chen serves as an advisor to AA Wind & Solar Energy Development
Group, LLC. Prior to his current position, from February 2009 to October 2010, Mr. Chen participated in a joint venture with Mr. Qiu Youmin, the former
designer of Geely Automobile Co., Ltd., and assisted in the development of super mini three seat pure electric vehicles. From June 2008 to July 2009, he
participated in the development of Lithium Iron Phosphate Battery with Shanghai Yuankai Group. Mr. Chen served as a Professor of Electrical
Engineering at Zhejiang University from 1983 to 1997. In addition, Mr. Chen served as a visiting scholar in the Electrical Engineering Department at
Columbia University in New York City from 1981 to 1983 and as a professor in Electrical Engineering at Zhejiang University from 1960 to 1981. Mr. Chen
received his bachelor degree from Southeast University in Jiangsu, China in 1960.
 
Family Relationships
 
No family relationships existed among any of our directors or executive officers.
 
Audit Committee Financial Expert
 
Our Audit Committee currently consists of Henry Yu (Chairman), Jerry Lewin and Chen Liming, each of whom is independent under NASDAQ listing
standards. Our Board of Directors determined that each of Mr. Yu and Mr. Lewin qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined by Item 407
of Regulation S-K and NASDAQ Rule 5605(a)(2). In reaching this determination, the Board of Directors made a qualitative assessment of Mr. Yu’s and
Mr. Lewin’s level of knowledge and experience based on a number of factors, including formal education and business experience.
  
Code of Ethics
 
We have adopted a “Code of Ethics” as defined by regulations promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Exchange Act that
applies to all of our directors and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. A current
copy of our “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is included as exhibit 14.1 to our annual report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015. A copy of our
“Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” will be provided to you without charge upon written request to Hu Xiaoming, Chief Executive Officer, Kandi
Technologies Group, Inc., Jinhua City Industrial Zone, Jinhua, Zhejiang Province, People’s Republic of China, 321016. You may also access these filings
at our web site under the investor relations link at http://en.kandivehicle.com
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Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires that the Company’s directors and executive officers and persons who beneficially own
more than ten percent (10%) of a registered class of its equity securities, file with the SEC reports of ownership and changes in ownership of its common
stock and other equity securities. Executive officers, directors, and beneficial owners of greater than ten percent (10%) of a registered class of the
Company’s equity securities are required by SEC regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports that they file. Based solely
upon a review of the copies of such reports furnished to us or written representations that no other reports were required, the Company believes that,
during fiscal year 2019, all filing requirements applicable to its executive officers, directors, and greater than ten percent (10%) beneficial owners were
met, except for the following:(i) Hu Xiaoming did not timely file Form 4 after being issued 50,000 shares on August 19, 2019. However, the Form 4
corresponding to this transaction was subsequently filed on September 6, 2019. (ii) Zhu Xiaoying did not timely file Form 4 after being issued 10,000 on
August 19, 2019. However, the Form 4 was subsequently filed on September 6, 2019. (iii) Henry Yu did not timely file Form 4s after acquiring 5,000
shares and 5,000 shares on February 14, 2019 and August 14, 2019, respectively. However, the Form 4 corresponding to these transactions were
subsequently filed on November 25, 2019. (iv) Jerry Lewin did not timely file Form 4s after being issued 5,000 shares on August 6, 2018, January 31,
2019 and August 19, 2019 respectively. The Form 4 corresponding to these transactions was subsequently filed on April 23, 2020. As of the date of this
report, all of the filings mentioned above have been made.
  
 Item 11. Executive Compensation
 
Summary Compensation Table
 
The following table summarizes the compensation earned during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, by the individuals who served as our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during any part of fiscal year 2019 or any other executive officer with total compensation in excess of
$100,000 during fiscal year 2019. The individuals listed in the table below are referred to as the “named executive officers”.
 

    Salary   Bonus   
Stock

Awards   
Option
Awards   

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation  

Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings   

All Other
Compensation  Total  

Name and Principal Position Year  ($)   ($)   ($)(3)   ($)(3)   ($)   ($)   ($)   ($)  
Hu Xiaoming (1)  2019  $ 52,120   -  $ 264,000        -       -          -          -  $ 316,120 

CEO, President and
Chairman of the Board  2018  $ 27,213   -  $ 459,000   340,056   -   -   -  $ 826,269 

                                   
Zhu Xiaoying (2)  2019  $ 72,388   -  $ 52,800   -   -   -   -  $ 125,188 

CFO  2018   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                                   

Mei Bing (2)  2019  $ -   -  $ 8,750   -   -   -   -  $ 8,750 
Former CFO,
Former Director  2018  $ 180,000   -  $ 35,000   -   -   -   -  $ 215,000 

 
(1) Mr. Hu was appointed as CEO and President of the Company on June 29, 2007.
 
(2) Mr. Mei was appointed as CFO of the Company on November 14, 2016 and resigned from his position as CFO on January 29, 2019. Ms. Zhu

Xiaoying was appointed as interim CFO, effective January 29, 2019.
 
(3) The amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value under FASB ASC Topic 718 of awards made during the respective year.
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Salary and Incentive Compensation
 
In fiscal 2019, the primary components of our executive compensation programs were base salary and equity compensation.
 
Salary
 
We use base salary to fairly and competitively compensate our executives, including the named executive officers, for the jobs we ask them to perform.
We view base salary as the most stable component of our executive compensation program, as this amount is not at risk. We believe that the base
salaries of our executives should be targeted at or above the median of base salaries for executives in similar positions with similar responsibilities at
comparable companies, consistent with our compensation philosophy. At the end of the year, each executive’s performance is evaluated by our
Compensation Committee, which takes into account the individual’s performance, responsibilities of the position, adherence to our core values,
experience, and external market conditions and practices.
 
Incentive Compensation
 
We believe it is a customary and competitive practice to include an equity-based element of compensation to the overall compensation package for our
named executive officers. We believe that a significant portion of the compensation paid to our named executive officers should be performance -based
and therefore at risk. Awards made are granted under the Kandi Technologies Group, Inc. Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).
 
At our 2008 annual shareholders meeting, our stockholders approved the adoption of the Plan. As of December 31, 2019, 2,600,000 options have been
granted under the Plan to the Company’s employees and directors, of which 2,593,332 have been exercised, and 6,668 have been forfeited.
 
Pursuant to Pre-Approved Award Grant Sub-Plan approved by the Board of Directors December 30, 2013 and modified on July 25, 2014, if the Non-
GAAP net income in one year increases by 10% compared with the previous year, the total of 335,000 shares of the common stock from the Plan (as
disclosed in details in the next paragraph below) to be granted to certain employees (management of the Company is authorized to determine list of
employees and stock amount rewarded based on position adjustment of employees, performance and tenure of each employee in that year) will be
granted for that year; if the Non-GAAP net income in one year is less than the Non-GAAP net income in the previous year, then no stock will be granted
in that year; if the Non-GAAP net income in one year is 10% less than or 10% more than the Non-GAAP net income in the previous year, then the stock
grant amount will decrease or increase according to the Non-GAAP net income decrease or increase percentage, but the total amount rewarded may not
be over 200%.
  
On May 20, 2015, the shareholders of the Company approved an increase of 9,000,000 shares under the Plan at its annual meeting. The fair value of
each award granted under the Plan is determined based upon the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant. To the extent that the
performance goal is not met and so no shares become due, no compensation cost is recognized and any recognized compensation cost during the
applicable year is reversed. The number of shares of common stock granted under the Plan with respect to fiscal 2014 was 670,000 shares based on the
Non-GAAP Net Income of 2014. Compensation expense is recognized in General and Administrative Expenses. On April 23, 2015 and June 7, 2015, the
Company granted 550,000 shares and 120,000 shares, respectively, to the senior management and key employee as year 2014 performance awards.
On April 13, 2016, the Company granted 670,000 shares to the senior management and key employee as year 2015 performance awards. In February
2017, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to grant 246,900 shares to a list of management members as compensation for their past services
pursuant to Section 11 of the Company’s 2008 plan. On September 26, 2016, the Board approved the termination of the previous Board’s Pre-Approved
Award Grant Sub-Plan under the 2008 Plan and adopted a new plan to reduce the total number of shares of common stock of the stock award for select
executives and key employees from 335,000 shares of common stock to 250,000 shares of common stock for each fiscal year and the other terms were
as same as before. There was no grant under the Board’s Pre-Approved Award Grant Sub-Plan in the years of 2017, 2018 and 2019.
 
On May 29, 2015, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the grant of stock options to purchase 4,900,000
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $9.72 per share to the Company’s senior executives. The stock options will vest ratably over three years
and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date. As of December 31, 2019, no option shares were exercised. The granted stock option to the
directors and officers are as below:
 
Name  stock options  
Hu Xiaoming   900,000 
Zhu Xiaoying   400,000 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2019 Fiscal Year End
 
The following table sets forth information regarding all unexercised, outstanding equity awards held, as of December 31, 2019, by those individuals who
served as our named executive officers during any part of fiscal year 2019.
 

Name  

Number of
Securities
underlying

Unexercised
Exercisable   

Number of
Securities
underlying

Unexercised
Options(#)

Unexercisable  

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Unearned

Options (#)   

Option
Exercise

Price ($)(1)   

Option
Expiration

Date  

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested (#)   

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of

Stock That
Have Not
Vested ($)   

Awards:
Number of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other

Rights That
Have Not
Vested (#)   

Market or
Payout

Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other

Rights That
Have Not
Vested ($)  

Hu
Xiaoming  900,000            -          -  $ 9.72  5/28/2025          -           -          -          - 

Zhu
Xiaoying   400,000   -   -  $ 9.72  5/28/2025   -   -   -   - 

  
(1) The grant date fair value of each share of common stock option is $9.72, calculated in accordance with FASB Topic 718.
 
Employment Agreements
 
Kandi Vehicles has a three-year-term employment agreement with Mr. Hu, expiring June 9, 2020. The agreement provides an annual salary for Mr. Hu
with bonuses to be decided at the discretion of our Board at the year end.
The employment agreement between Kandi Vehicles and Ms. Zhu is for a two-year term from January 29, 2019. Pursuant to the agreement, Ms. Zhu
shall receive an annual salary of RMB500,000 with a year-end equity bonus of 10,000 shares of the common stock.
The form of the agreements was previously filed and incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 16, 2015.
 
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control
 
Under Chinese law, we may only terminate employment agreements without cause and without penalty by providing notice of non-renewal one month
prior to the date on which the employment agreement is scheduled to expire. If we fail to provide this notice or if we wish to terminate an employment
agreement in the absence of cause, as defined in the agreement, then we are obligated to pay the employee one month’s salary for each year we have
employed the employee. We are, however, permitted to terminate an employee for cause without penalty pursuant to the employee’s employment
agreement. If the named executive officer is not terminated for cause, the Company will pay the remaining portion of the executive officer’s salary.
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Director Compensation (excluding Named Executive Officers)
 
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the compensation earned by or awarded during the 2019 fiscal year to each of our non-
executive directors:
 

Name  

Fees
Earned or

Paid in
Cash ($)(2)   

Stock
Awards ($)

(1)(2)   
Option

Awards ($)   

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)   

Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings   

All Other
Compensation

($)   Total ($)  
Lin Yi  $ 8,687   -         -        -        -          -  $ 8,687 
                             
Henry Yu  $ 24,000   18,100   -   -   -   -  $ 42,100 
                             
Jerry Lewin  $ 24,000   26,500   -   -   -   -  $ 50,500 
                             
Chen Liming  $ 8,687   -   -   -   -   -  $ 8,687 
                             
Zhu Feng  $ 8,687   -   -   -   -   -  $ 8,612 
                             
Wang lin (3)  $ -   -   -   -   -   -  $ - 
                             
Sun Chenming (3)  $ -   -   -   -   -   -  $ - 
 
 
(1)

 
The amounts in these columns represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards granted to our non-named executive officer directors
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with ASC Topic 718. In connection with his appointment to the Board of Directors in
July 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to issue to Mr. Yu 5,000 shares of Company’s restricted common stock every six months,
par value $0.001. The closing stock price at the grant date is $2.65 per share. Similarly, in August 2011, the Board of Directors authorized the
Company to issue to Mr. Lewin 5,000 shares of Company’s restricted common stock every six months, par value $0.001. The closing stock price at
the grant date is $1.81 per share. As of December 31, 2019, 80,000 shares of restricted common stock had been issued to Mr. Lewin and Mr. Yu,
respectively.

  
(2)  In setting director compensation, we consider the significant amount of time that directors spend fulfilling their duties to the Company, as well as the

skill level required to serve as a director and manage the affairs of the Company. Certain directors receive a monthly fee as follows: (i) Lin Yi
receives a monthly fee of RMB5,000 (approximately $740) starting May 2017; (ii) Jerry Lewin receives a monthly fee of $2,000; (iii) Henry Yu
receives a monthly fee of $2,000; and (iv) Chen Liming receives a monthly fee of RMB 5,000 (approximately $740) starting 2014.

  
(3) Ms. Wang and Mr. Sun were elected as our directors on December 30, 2019. As they were elected as the Company’s directors on December 30,

2019, they did not receive any compensation for their serving on the Board in 2019.
 
The aggregate number of stock options and restricted shares outstanding, as of December 31, 2019, for each of the non-named executive officer
directors were as follows:
 

Name  Options   
Restricted

stock  
       
Henry Yu   0   80,000 (1) 
Chen Liming   0   0 
Lin Yi   0   0 
Jerry Lewin   0   80,000 
Zhu Feng   0   0 
Wang Lin   0   0 
Sun Chenming   0   0 
 

(1) Besides the 80,000 shares of restricted common stock, Mr. Yu owns additional 34,146 shares of the Company’s common stock that he
purchased from the open market.
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 Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 
The following table sets forth information known to us, as of April 23, 2020, relating to the beneficial ownership of shares of common stock by each
person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of common stock; each director; each
executive officer; and all executive officers and directors as a group. We believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as being owned by them. The applicable percentages of ownership are based on an aggregate
of 52,849,441 shares of our Common Stock outstanding on April 23, 2020. Unless indicated otherwise, the mailing address of each beneficial owner is
Jinhua City Industrial Zone, Jinhua City, Zhejiang Province, China 321016.
 

Title of Class  Name of Beneficial Owner  

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership   

Percent of
Class  

Named Executive Officers and Directors
Common Stock  Hu Xiaoming   14,226,481(1)  26.9%
Common Stock  Zhu Xiaoying   653,992   1.2%
Common Stock  Henry Yu   112,836   * 
Common Stock  Jerry Lewin   85,000   * 
Common Stock  Chen Liming   -   - 
Common Stock  Lin Yi   -   - 
Common Stock  Sun chenming   8,000   * 
Common Stock  Wang Lin   4,000    * 
All officers and directors     15,090,309   28.6%
Other 5% Stockholders:
Common Stock  Excelvantage Group Limited   12,821,404(2)  24.3%
 
* Less than 1%
 
(1) Includes (i) 1,405,077 shares owned directly by Mr. Hu, (ii) 12,821,404 shares owned by Excelvantage Group Limited. As reflected in footnote 2, Mr.

Hu may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of these shares.
  
(2) On March 29, 2010, Hu Xiaoming, our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of Directors, became the sole stockholder of

Excelvantage Group Limited. Through his position as the sole stockholder in Excelvantage Group Limited, Mr. Hu has the power to dispose of or
direct the disposition of the shares of the ordinary shares in Excelvantage Limited Group. As a result, Mr. Hu may, under the rules of the Securities
and Exchange Commission, be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares of common stock.
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 Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
 
Transactions with Related Parties
 
For the discussion of Transactions with Related Parties, please refer to NOTE 23 – SUMMARIZED INFORMATION OF EQUITY METHOD
INVESTMENT IN THE AFFILIATE COMPANY.
 
Procedures For Approval of Related Party Transactions
 
According to the Company policy on Related-Party Transactions (the “Policy”), a “Related Transaction” is “any transaction, includes, but not limited to,
any financial transaction, arrangement, relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or any series of similar transactions,
arrangements or relationships, since the beginning of the Company’s last fiscal year, or any currently proposed transaction, and the amount involved
exceeds $120,000, and in which any related party had or will have a direct or indirect material interest”. The Policy’s definition of a “Related Party” is in
line with the definition set forth in the instructions to Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.
  
Under the Policy, The Company’s proposed material related transaction with related persons shall be submitted to the Board for consideration and
discussion after an independent director presents his/her approval opinion beforehand. The Audit Committee shall conduct an audit on the related-party
transaction and prepare a written opinion, and can engage independent financial advisers to issue a report as a basis for its judgment, then submit it to
the Board. The Policy states that the Board meeting can be held as long as non-affiliated directors making up a majority of the Board attend, and any
resolution made by the Board must be approved by a majority of non-affiliated directors.
 
Director Independence
 
Messrs. Henry Yu, Chen Liming, Lin Yi and Jerry Lewin are all non-employee directors, all of whom our Board has determined to be independent
pursuant to NASDAQ rules. All of the members of our Audit Committee, Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee and Compensation Committee are
independent pursuant to NASDAQ rules.
 
 Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
 
The following table represents the aggregate fees from our current principal accounting firm, Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP and former principal
accounting firm, BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
  2019   2018  
Audit Fees  $ 518,593  $ 420,000 
Audit Related Fees  $ 12,300  $ - 
Tax Fees  $ 74,400  $ - 
All Other Fees  $ -  $ 50,000 
TOTAL FEES  $ 605,293  $ 470,000 
 

Audit Fees —This category includes the audit of our annual financial statements and services that are normally provided by the independent auditors
in connection with engagements for those fiscal years.

 
Audit-Related Fees  — This category consists of assurance and related services by the independent auditors that are reasonably related to the

performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported above under “Audit Fees”. 
 
Tax Fees  — This category consists of professional services rendered by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for tax

compliance and tax advice. The services for the fees disclosed under this category include tax return preparation and technical tax advice.
 

All Other Fees  — This category consists of fees for other miscellaneous items.
 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 
 

All of the services rendered to us by our independent registered public accountants were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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 PART IV

 
 Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
 
Exhibit   
Number  Description
2.1  Share Exchange Agreement, dated June 29, 2007, by and among Stone Mountain Resources, Inc., Continental Development Limited and

Excelvantage Group Limited. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 6,
2007]

   
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to Form SB-2 filed by the Company on April 1, 2005]
   
3.2  Certificate For Renewal and Revival of Charter dated May 27, 2007. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated June 20, 2014]
   
3.3  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Form S-3, dated

November 19, 2009; File No. 333-163222]
   
3.4  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K, dated

December 21, 2012]
   
3.5  Bylaws. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to Form SB-2 filed by the Company on April 1, 2005]
   
10.1  Form of the Director Agreement. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on

March 16, 2015]
   
10.2  Form of the Employment Contract by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and the executive officer. [Incorporated by reference

from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2015]
   
10.3  Kandi Technologies, Corp. 2008 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan [Incorporated by reference from Appendix A to the Company’s

Definitive Schedule 14A filed on November 24, 2008]
   
10.4  Voting Agreement, dated January 21, 2010, by and between the Company and Excelvantage Group Limited. [Incorporated by reference

from Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 21, 2010]
   
10.5  The Agreement of Establishment Kandi New Energy Vehicles Co., Ltd., dated May 18, 2010, by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles

Co., Ltd. and Mr. Hu Xiaoming, and its supplement, dated January 31, 2011. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.13 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2011]

   
10.6  The Share Escrow and Trust Agreement, dated May 18, 2010, by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Mr. Hu Xiaoming.

[Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2011]
   
10.7  The Contractor Agreement, dated May 18, 2010, by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Mr. Hu Xiaoming. [Incorporated

by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2011]
   
10.8  Loan Agreement, dated January 31, 2011, by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Mr. Hu Xiaoming. [Incorporated by

reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on May 16, 2011]
   
10.9  Joint Venture Agreement of Establishment of Zhejiang Kandi Electric Vehicles Co., Ltd., by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd.

and Shanghai Maple Guorun Automobile Co., Ltd., dated March 22, 2013. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 14, 2013]
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10.10  Zhejiang Wanxiang Ener1 Power System Co., Ltd. Sales Contract, between JinhuaKandi New Energy Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang

Wanxiang Ener1 Power System Co., Ltd., dated October 23, 2013. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 17, 2014]

   
10.11  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2008 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan of Kandi Technologies Group,

Inc. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 14, 2016]
   
10.12  English Translation of the Share Transfer Agreement by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Mr. Wang Xinhuo dated

December 12, 2017 [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16,
2018]

   
10.13  English Translation of the Supplementary Agreement by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Mr. Wang Xinhuo dated

December 12, 2017 [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16,
2018]

   
10.14

 
Membership Interest Transfer Agreement of Sportsman Country, LLC by and between David Shan, Johnny Tai and Kandi Technologies
Group, Inc. dated May 31, 2017 (Bilingual) [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 15, 2019]

   
10.15  Equity Transfer Agreement by and between Zhejiang Kandi Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Geely Technology Group Co., Ltd., dated March 21,

2019 [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2019]
   
10.16  English translation of the land repurchase agreement for the Jinhua premise, dated as of March 10, 2020, by and between Zhejiang Kandi

Vehicles Co., Ltd. and Administrative Committee of Jinhua Economic and Technological Development Zone.* †
   
14.1  Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 14.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed

on March 16, 2015]
   
21.1  List of Subsidiaries of the Company [Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on

March 15, 2019]
   
23.1  Consent of Marcum Bernstein & Pinchuk LLP †
   
23.2  Consent of BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP †
   
31.1  Certification of CEO pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. †
   
31.2  Certification of CFO pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. †
   
32.1  Certifications of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. †
   
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document.
   
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
   
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
   
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
   
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
 
† Exhibits filed herewith.
* Certain portion of the exhibit has been omitted in accordance with the provisions of Item 601(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation S-K.
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 SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 KANDI TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC.
   
April 28, 2020 By: /s/ Hu Xiaoming
  Hu Xiaoming
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
/s/ Hu Xiaoming  President, Chief Executive Officer  April 28, 2020
Hu Xiaoming  and Chairman of the Board (Principal   
  Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Zhu Xiaoying  Interim Chief Financial Officer  April 28, 2020
Zhu Xiaoying  (Principal Financial Officer and   
  Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ Chen Liming  Director  April 28, 2020
Chen Liming     
     
/s/ Lin Yi  Director  April 28, 2020
Lin Yi     
     
/s/ Jerry Lewin  Director  April 28, 2020
Jerry Lewin     
     
/s/ Henry Yu  Director  April 28, 2020
Henry Yu     
     
/s/ Wang Lin  Director  April 28, 2020
Wang Lin     
     
/s/ Sun Chenming  Director  April 28, 2020
Sun Chenming     
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